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This Second supplement (the “Second Supplement”) is supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Base Prospectus 

dated 12 June 2019 (the “Base Prospectus”) as supplemented by the first supplement dated 2 August 2019 (the “First Supplement”) 

prepared in relation to the €55,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of SNCF Réseau (“SNCF Réseau”) (the 

“Programme”). The Base Prospectus constitutes a base prospectus for the purpose of the Directive 2003/71/EC (the “Prospectus 

Directive”) as amended, and in accordance with Article 46 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. The Autorité des marchés financiers (the 

“AMF”) has granted visa n°19-256 on 12 June 2019 to the Base Prospectus.  

Application has been made for approval of this Second Supplement to the AMF in its capacity as competent authority pursuant to article 

212-2 of its Règlement Général which implements the Prospectus Directive in France. This Second Supplement constitutes a supplement 

to the Base Prospectus, and has been prepared for the purpose of article 16.1 of the Prospectus Directive and of article 212-25 of the 

AMF’s Règlement Général. 

Terms defined in the Base Prospectus have the same meaning when used in the Second Supplement. 

This Second Supplement has been prepared for the purposes of, inter alia, (i) reflecting the transformation of SNCF Réseau from an 

établissement public à caractère industriel et commercial into a société anonyme, (ii) incorporating by reference the 2019 Financial 

Report (as defined below) of SNCF Réseau and (iii) making certain amendments related to the Brexit transition period. 

Save as disclosed in this Second Supplement, there has been no other significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to 

information included in the Base Prospectus which is material in the context of the Programme since the publication of the Base 

Prospectus. To the extent that there is any inconsistency between (a) any statements in this Second Supplement and (b) any other 

statement in, or incorporated in, the Base Prospectus, the statements in the Second Supplement will prevail.  

Copies of this Second Supplement (a) may be obtained, free of charge, during normal business hours at the specified office of the Issuer, 

the Fiscal Agent and the Registrar and any Transfer Agent, at the specified office in Luxembourg of the Principal Paying Agent and at the 

specified office in Paris of the Paris Paying Agent, (b) will be available on the website of the AMF (www.amf-france.org) and (c) will be 

available on the website of the Issuer (www.sncf-reseau.fr). 

In relation to any offer of Notes to the public, and provided that the conditions of article 16(2) of the Prospectus Directive are fulfilled, 

investors who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for Notes to be issued under the Programme before this Second Supplement is 

published, have the right according to article 16(2) of the Prospectus Directive, to withdraw their acceptances within a time limit of two 

(2) working days after the publication of this Second Supplement, i.e. until 9 March 2020.  
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SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME 

In subsection A.2 entitled “Consent”, of the section entitled “Summary of the Programme” on pages 8 to 10 of the 

Base Prospectus, reference to “EEA” shall be replaced by a reference to “EEA and/or the United Kingdom”. 

The subsection B.2 entitled “Domicile and legal form of the Issuer, the legislation under which the Issuer operates 

and its country of incorporation” of the section entitled “Summary of the Programme” on pages 11 and 12 of the 

Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.2 Domicile and legal form of the 

Issuer, the legislation under 

which the Issuer operates and its 

country of incorporation 

SNCF Réseau is a société anonyme which is a subsidiary of Société 

nationale SNCF (“Société nationale SNCF”), the parent company of the 

SNCF Group (as defined below), fully owned by the French State. The 

Issuer results from the transformation of SNCF Réseau, établissement 

public à caractère industriel et commercial (“SNCF Réseau EPIC”), into 

a société anonyme as a consequence of the entry into force on 1 January 

2020 of the Law n°2018-515 dated 27 June 2018 and of the ordonnance n° 

2019-552 dated 3 June 2019 (together, the “New Railway Pact”). SNCF 

Réseau is now governed by the provisions of the French Code de 

commerce applicable to a société anonyme, it has a share capital of 

€500,000,000 comprising 5,000,000 shares, with each share having a 

nominal value of €100. The Issuer is registered with the registre du 

commerce et des sociétés of Paris under n°412 280 737 for a duration of 99 

years, subject to any further extension. Its registered and head office is 

15/17, rue Jean-Philippe Rameau, 93200 Saint Denis, France, and its 

telephone number is (+33) (0) 1 71 92 60 00. Its missions are set out in the 

decree n°97-444 dated 5 May 1997. 

 

The subsection B.4 entitled “Trends” of the section entitled “Summary of the Programme” on pages 12 to 14 of the 

Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.4b Trends 2020 is a decisive year for the opening of passengers railway transportation 

to competition.  

Following the implementation of Nouvel’R in 2018 and the launch of 

several projects in 2019 (EOLE, CDG Express), in 2020 SNCF Réseau will 

have to comply with the New Railway Pact, in particular its transformation 

into a French société anonyme which came into force on 1 January 2020 

and conduct the integration of Gares & Connexions (“G&C”) as a 

subsidiary.  

SNCF Réseau will be an independent entity while being under the 

supervision of the transport regulation authority (Autorité de Régulation 

des Transports) (formerly ARAFER), its other supervisory authorities and 

the SNCF Group.  

This independence is characterised by a new financing structure that will 

apply to SNCF Réseau in 2020, in particular the assumption of EUR 25 

billion of debt by the State which will significantly reduce the financial 

costs for SNCF Réseau (approximatly EUR 700 million per year on a full-

year basis). The debt balance will be maintained by the new “golden rule” 

applicable to all investments.  

2020 will also be a significant year for investment expenses which will 
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reach nearly EUR 5.7 billion. This represents an increase of EUR 173 

million over 4 years (before the transfer of G&C). These investments will 

have the following goals:  

- focus on investments and maintenance relating to the structuring 

network; 

- focus on the LGV network, in particular lines UIC 2 to 6; 

- the upgrading of the Île-de-France network; 

- pursuing development projects: mainly EOLE (E Line), CDG 

Express and TELT (Tunnel Euralpin Lyon Turin); and 

- the acceleration of new projects led by the State and the Region 

Île-de-France in connection with the 2024 Olympic Games. 

 

 

The subsection B.5 entitled “The group and the Issuer’s position within the group” of the section entitled “Summary 

of the Programme” on pages 14 and 15 of the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.5 The group and the Issuer’s 

position within the group 

In the context of the New Railway Pact, SNCF Réseau was transformed 

from an Etablissement public à caractère industriel et commercial 

(“EPIC”) into a limited liability company (société anonyme) and the 

SNCF Group was reorganised as of 1 January 2020 into a major unified 

and integrated public group comprising Société nationale SNCF (formerly 

SNCF Mobilités établissement public à caractère industriel et commercial 

(“SNCF Mobilités EPIC”) and having absorbed the previous EPIC SNCF) 

which became a fully state-owned limited liability (société nationale à 

capitaux publics) parent company, and several subsidiaries including, in 

particular, SNCF Réseau and SNCF Voyageurs, all of which are limited 

liability companies (société anonymes). 

  On and with effect from 1 January 2020, the following transactions, 

amongst others, were completed: 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, transferred, by way of a contribution at the 

net accounting value, all its assets, rights and liabilities related to 

the management of public railway stations to a newly formed and 

wholly-owned limited liability company (SNCF Gares & 

Connexions SA (“SNCF Gares & Connexions”). The financial 

debt associated with such activities was also transferred to this 

limited liability company (SNCF Gares & Connexions), SNCF 

Mobilités EPIC, remaining the sole debtor of the relevant 

creditors. The share capital of this limited liability company was 

then immediately transferred to SNCF Réseau EPIC, at its net 

accounting value. SNCF Réseau then transferred all its assets and 

liabilities related to the management of the public railway stations 

to this limited liability company. 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, transferred, by way of a contribution at the 

net accounting value, all its assets, rights and liabilities related to 

its passengers activities to a newly formed and wholly-owned 

limited liability company (“SNCF Voyageurs”). The financial 

debt related to such activities was transferred to SNCF Voyageurs, 

with SNCF Mobilités EPIC, remaining the sole debtor of the 

relevant creditors. In all the legal texts in force on 1 January 2020, 
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the terms “SNCF Mobilités” are replaced by the terms “SNCF 

Voyageurs”. 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, transferred by way of a contribution at the 

net accounting value to a wholly-owned limited liability company 

(Fret SNCF SAS) all its assets, rights and liabilities (except for 

the financial indebtedness which will not be transferred) related to 

the supply of rail freight transport services activities in France and 

abroad (formerly part of the SNCF Logistics Branch).  

The scope of the assets, rights and liabilities so transferred was approved 

by several arrêtés of the Minister for transport, the Minister for the 

economy and the Minister for the budget dated 17 December 2019. 

In addition, and also on and with effect from 1 January 2020: 

 SNCF EPIC, was wound up and all its assets, rights, liabilities and 

authorisations were transferred at their net accounting value 

through a dévolution universelle de patrimoine (“merger 

absorption”) to SNCF Mobilités EPIC. 

 SNCF Réseau EPIC was transformed into a limited liability 

company, wholly-owned by SNCF Mobilités EPIC. The French 

railway network has been transferred to the direct ownership of 

the French State, and has been attributed to SNCF Réseau.  

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, was transformed into a limited liability 

company (société nationale à capitaux publics) wholly owned by 

the French state and re-named Société nationale SNCF.  

The changes in the legal status of SNCF Réseau EPIC and SNCF Mobilités 

EPIC did not involve the creation of new legal entities or cessation of 

activities and all the rights, obligations and authorisations of SNCF Réseau 

and SNCF Mobilités, respectively, remain unaffected as a result of such 

changes. 

Following the above transactions, the newly reorganised State-owned 

unified group, in fulfilment of public service missions in the field of rail 

transport and mobility, is composed of Société nationale SNCF, holding 

directly or indirectly several subsidiaries, including SNCF Réseau, SNCF 

Voyageurs, Geodis and Keolis (Société nationale SNCF, together with its 

subsidiaries controlled directly or indirectly within the meaning of Article 

L. 233-3 I of the French Code de commerce being the “SNCF Group”). 

  SNCF Réseau’s consolidated subsidiaries on a full consolidated basis 

(consolidation par intégration globale) are as follows: 

   SNCF Gares & Connexions, which was formerly a subsidiary of 

SNCF Mobilités EPIC is, as of 1 January 2020, 100% owned 

subsidiary of the Issuer. The Issuer estimates that SNCF Gares & 

Connexions will represent approximately 2% of its total 

consolidated assets.  

   SFERIS, a company that carries out project works in France and 

provides expertise, 100% owned subsidiary of the Issuer. 
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   ALTAMETRIS, a company in charge of inter alia 

commercialising the acquisition, processing and evaluate data by 

automated mobile vectors, mainly drones and satellites, 100% 

owned subsidiary of the Issuer. 

   ImmoRESEAU, a company in charge of holding shares in 

companies whose activities are to develop and promote real estate 

and land valuation, 100% owned subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 

Sub-sections B.10 entitled “Audit report qualifications” and B.12 entitled “Selected historical key financial 

information” of the section entitled “Summary of the Programme” on pages 16 to 23 of the Base Prospectus shall be 

deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.10 Audit report qualifications The consolidated and the non-consolidated financial statements of the 

Issuer for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 were 

audited by the statutory auditors who issued audit reports. Such audited 

reports contain the following qualifications in respect of the financial year 

ended 31 December 2018 and the following qualifications in respect of the 

year ended 31 December 2019: 

The statutory auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for 

the year ended 31 December 2018 contains the following qualification: “As 

stated in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements concerning 

impairment testing of infrastructure CGU assets, the Company considered 

that the adoption on 14 June 2018 of the Law for a New Railway Pact (loi 

d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire), in addition to various 

declarations of the French government concerning primarily a change in 

the methods for indexing infrastructure fees, constituted new indications of 

impairment. The Company therefore carried out an additional impairment 

test during the year, using the same methods that were used at 31 

December 2017, and recognised an impairment loss of €3.4 billion, in 

addition to the €9.6 billion impairment loss recognised in 2015 to take into 

account the new balance in the negotiations between the Company and the 

French State. The new balance in the negotiations is based on the 

assumption that (i) the Company will achieve its productivity goals and (ii) 

the State will effectively implement all means and commitments necessary 

to support the recoverable amounts of the assets as determined above. 

The cash flow projections used for the test comprise (i) cash inflows 

(infrastructure fees, access charges and investment subsidies) mainly 

arising from commitments received from the French State, and (ii) expenses 

(installation work and maintenance), capital investment in renovations and 

renewals, and productivity gains. 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year 

for the railway network currently in service, considering that 2030 will 

correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected 

performance levels, although these levels have never been attained. 

Terminal value represents the essential factor in measuring value in use. 

• The cash flow projections used to justify these assets’ values are 

based on the assumption that the Company will meet its productivity goals, 
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which are even more ambitious than those used in previous years. 

• Projections for infrastructure fees in the regulated market have 

been left unchanged from the previous year-end, at a higher level than for 

open access operations despite the noncompliance opinion issued by the 

French road and rail office (ARAFER) in February 2019 regarding the 

2020 National Rail Network Statement, as the Company considers that the 

draft legislation currently under review by the French Council of State 

(Conseil d’État) will enable it to continue to apply a different indexation to 

open access. 

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work — which 

are mainly financed by dividends earned by SNCF that is redistributed by 

the French State to SNCF Réseau — are based on a new financial 

trajectory for the Groupe Public Ferroviaire which does not include the 

possible consequences of future legal and tax restructuring. The investment 

subsidies arising from the aforementioned trajectory have not obtained a 

formal commitment from the French State. 

• Lastly, the cash flow projections used are based on a new financial 

trajectory for SNCF Réseau that should be integrated in an amendment to 

the performance contract signed in April 2017, covering the residual 

period 2018-2026. The financial trajectory was presented for information 

purposes only to the SNCF Réseau Board of Directors on 25 July 2018 

(without being formally approved). 

There are major risks and uncertainties involved in the discounted future 

cash flow assumptions used to measure the property, plant and equipment, 

intangible assets and deferred tax assets presented in the statement of 

financial position at 31 December 2018. Consequently, the amount of the 

related impairment loss could increase significantly, for the following 

reasons. 

For these reasons, we are unable to assess the pertinence of the projections 

and are therefore unable to express an opinion on the net value of the 

assets concerned, which amounted to €32.7 billion in the statement of 

financial position at 31 December 2018 after impairment for property, 

plant and equipment and intangible assets and €2.8 billion for deferred tax 

assets.” 

The statutory auditor’s report on the non-consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 contains the following qualification: 

“As stated in Note 4.2.3 to the financial statements concerning impairment 

testing of infrastructure CGU assets, the Company considered that the 

adoption on 14 June 2018 of the Law for a New Railway Pact (loi 

d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire), in addition to various 

declarations of the French government concerning primarily a change in 

the methods for indexing infrastructure fees, constituted new indications of 

impairment. The Company therefore carried out an additional impairment 

test during the year, using the same methods that were used at 31 

December 2017, and recognised an impairment loss of €3.4 billion, in 

addition to the €9.6 billion impairment loss recognised in 2015 to take into 

account the new balance in the negotiations between the Company and the 

French State. The new balance in the negotiations is based on the 

assumption that (i) the Company will achieve its productivity goals and (ii) 
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the State will effectively implement all means and commitments necessary 

to support the recoverable amounts of the assets as determined above. The 

cash flow projections used for the test comprise (i) cash inflows 

(infrastructure fees, access charges and investment subsidies) mainly 

arising from commitments received from the French State, and (ii) expenses 

(installation work and maintenance), capital investment in renovations and 

renewals, and productivity gains: 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year 

for the railway network currently in service, considering that 2030 will 

correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected 

performance levels, although these levels have never been attained. 

Terminal value represents the essential factor in measuring value in use. 

• The cash flow projections used to justify these assets’ values are 

based on the assumption that the Company will meet its productivity goals, 

which are even more ambitious than those used in previous years. 

• Projections for contractual infrastructure fees have been left 

unchanged from the previous year-end, at a higher level than for TGV and 

Rail Freight operations despite the opinion issued by the French road and 

rail office (ARAFER) in February 2019 regarding the 2020 National Rail 

Network Statement, as the Company considers that the draft legislation 

currently under review by the French Council of State (Conseil d’État) will 

enable it to continue to apply a different indexation to TGV and Rail 

Freight. 

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work — which 

are mainly financed by dividends earned by SNCF that is redistributed by 

the French State to SNCF Réseau — are based on a new financial 

trajectory for the Groupe Public Ferroviaire which does not include the 

possible consequences of future legal and tax restructuring. The investment 

subsidies arising from the aforementioned trajectory have not obtained a 

formal commitment from the French State. 

• Lastly, the cash flow projections used are based on a new financial 

trajectory for SNCF Réseau that should be integrated in an amendment to 

the performance contract signed in April 2017, covering the residual 

period 2018-2026. The financial trajectory was presented for information 

purposes only to the SNCF Réseau Board of Directors on 25 July 2018 

(without being formally approved). 

There are major risks and uncertainties involved in the discounted future 

cash flow assumptions used to measure the property, plant and equipment, 

intangible assets presented in the statement of financial position at 31 

December 2018. Consequently, the amount of the related impairment loss 

could increase significantly, for the following reasons. 

For these reasons outlined above, we are unable to assess the pertinence of 

the projections and are therefore unable to express an opinion on the net 

value of the assets concerned, which amounted to €32.7 billion in the 

statement of financial position at 31 December 2018 after impairment for 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.” 

The statutory auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for 
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the year ended 31 December 2019 contains the following qualification: 

“As stated in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements concerning 

impairment testing of the assets of the Infrastructure CGU, the Company 

considers that the finalisation in September 2019 of the mapping of the 

bypass facilities, whose maintenance is now the responsibility of the 

infrastructure management entity under the so-called “Didier Law” of 

2014, and the undertaking made on 29 April 2019 by the SNCF Group to 

eliminate glyphosate by 2021 will lead to an increase in track maintenance 

costs and to a risk of impairment for the CGU.  

Accordingly, the Company carried out another impairment test at 31 

December 2019 based on a similar methodology to that used at the 

previous reporting dates, while excluding, going forward, station assets 

from the tested base, as they were transferred with effect from 1 January 

2020 to its new, wholly-owned subsidiary, SNCF Gares & Connexions, for 

a carrying amount of €0.9 billion. 

This test did not result in a change in the CGU’s carrying amount, as the 

balance in the negotiations between the French State and SNCF Réseau 

underlying the financial trajectory was not challenged by the Company. 

This balance was turned into the signing of the April 2017 performance 

agreement and by the amendments provided by the June 2018 Law for a 

New Railway Pact (loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire) 

and certain declarations of the French government primarily modifying 

changes in the indexing of infrastructure fees. This balance in the 

negotiations remains based on the assumption that (i) the Company will 

achieve its productivity goals and (ii) the French State will effectively 

implement all means and make all commitments necessary to support the 

recoverable amounts of the assets as determined above, although the 

French State did not formally reconfirm these undertakings for the 31 

December 2019 closing.  

The cash flow projections used for the test continue to comprise (i) cash 

inflows (infrastructure fees, access charges and investment subsidies) 

mainly arising from commitments received from the French State, and (ii) 

expenses (installation work and maintenance), capital investment in 

renovations and renewals, and productivity gains. 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year 

for the railway network currently in service, considering that 2030 will 

correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected 

performance levels, although these levels have never previously been 

attained. Terminal value represents the essential factor in measuring value 

in use.  

• The cash flow projections used to justify the assets’ values are 

based on the assumption that the Company will meet its productivity goals, 

which are more ambitious than those used in the performance agreement 

signed with the French State in April 2017. 

• The indexation trajectory for contractual infrastructure fees has 

been left unchanged from the previous reporting date, at a higher level than 

for TGV and Rail Freight operations despite the non-compliance opinions 

issued by the French transport authority (ART, formerly the French road 
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and rail office [ARAFER]) in February 2019 and 2020 regarding the rates 

for the 2020 and 2021 service timetables, as the Company considers that 

the French order (ordonnance) published on 11 March 2019 enables it to 

continue to apply a different indexation to TGV and Rail Freight. An 

appeal before the French Council of State (Conseil d’Etat) was filed by 

SNCF Réseau in September 2019 and contested by ART in December 2019. 

Its outcome cannot be anticipated at this stage.  

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work – which are, 

in particular, partially financed by the dividends received by the French 

State from SNCF and redistributed to SNCF Réseau – are based on a 

financial trajectory for the SNCF Group which is different from that used 

in the 2017 performance agreement and which has not been formally 

approved by the French State. This trajectory could prove to be different 

from the trajectory that will result from the discussions underway with the 

French State with a view to signing a new performance agreement covering 

the 2020-2029 period. 

• The new performance agreement for the 2020-2029 period is 

currently under discussion and its impacts cannot be measured at present. 

Key decisions are still under negotiation, in particular concerning network 

consistency and local transport services, as illustrated by the two 

agreements signed between the French State and the Grand-Est and 

Centre-Val de Loire regions on 20 February 2020. Under these 

agreements, the railway lines for these regions are organised into three 

distinct groups, one of which will be become part of the “structured” 

network. SNCF Réseau will finance its renovation, although the Company 

and the French State have not yet agreed on the terms and conditions of the 

financing of these renovation and maintenance investments.  

• As stated in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements, the 

measures concerning the new pension scheme and, more broadly, the new 

social framework resulting from the rail industry agreements were still 

under negotiation at the reporting date and consequently could not be 

modelled. 

Thus, major risks and uncertainties continue to weigh on the discounted 

future cash flow assumptions used to measure the property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets and deferred tax assets presented in the 

statement of financial position at 31 December 2019. Consequently, the 

amount of the related impairment loss could increase significantly. 

As a result, we are unable to assess the pertinence of the projections and 

are therefore unable to express an opinion on the net value of the assets 

concerned, which amounted to €33.5 billion at 31 December 2019 

(including work-in-progress) for property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets and €2.8 billion for deferred tax assets.”  

The statutory auditor’s report on the non-consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2019 contains the following qualification: 

“As stated in Note 4.2.3 to the financial statements concerning impairment 

testing of the assets of the Infrastructure CGU, the Company considers that 

the finalisation in September 2019 of the mapping of the bypass facilities, 

whose maintenance is now the responsibility of the infrastructure 
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management entity under the so-called “Didier Law” of 2014, and the 

undertaking made on 29 April 2019 by the SNCF Group to eliminate 

glyphosate by 2021 will lead to an increase in track maintenance costs and 

to a risk of impairment for the CGU.  

Accordingly, the Company carried out another impairment test at 31 

December 2019 based on a similar methodology to that used at the 

previous reporting dates, while excluding, going forward, station assets 

from the tested base, as they were transferred with effect from 1 January 

2020 to its new, wholly-owned subsidiary, SNCF Gares & Connexions, for 

a carrying amount of €0.9 billion. 

This test did not result in a change in the CGU’s carrying amount, as the 

balance in the negotiations between the French State and SNCF Réseau 

underlying the financial trajectory was not challenged by the Company. 

This balance turned into the signing of the April 2017 performance 

agreement and by the amendments provided by the June 2018 Law for a 

New Railway Pact (loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire) 

and certain declarations of the French government primarily modifying 

changes in the indexing of infrastructure fees. This balance in the 

negotiations remains based on the assumption that (i) the Company will 

achieve its productivity goals and (ii) the French State will effectively 

implement all means and make all commitments necessary to support the 

recoverable amounts of the assets as determined above, although the 

French State did not formally reconfirm these undertakings for the 31 

December 2019 closing.  

The cash flow projections used for the test continue to comprise (i) cash 

inflows (infrastructure fees, access charges and investment subsidies) 

mainly arising from commitments received from the French State, and (ii) 

expenses (installation work and maintenance), capital investment in 

renovations and renewals, and productivity gains. 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year 

for the railway network currently in service, considering that 2030 will 

correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected 

performance levels, although these levels have never previously been 

attained. Terminal value represents the essential factor in measuring value 

in use.  

• The cash flow projections used to justify the assets’ values are 

based on the assumption that the Company will meet its productivity goals, 

which are more ambitious than those used in the performance agreement 

signed with the French State in April 2017. 

• The indexation trajectory for contractual infrastructure fees has 

been left unchanged from the previous reporting date, at a higher level than 

for TGV and Rail Freight operations despite the non-compliance opinions 

issued by the French transport authority (ART, formerly the French road 

and rail office [ARAFER]) in February 2019 and 2020 regarding the rates 

for the 2020 and 2021 service timetables, as the Company considers that 

the French order (ordonnance) published on 11 March 2019 enables it to 

continue to apply a different indexation to TGV and Rail Freight. An 

appeal before the French Council of State (Conseil d’Etat) was filed by 

SNCF Réseau in September 2019 and contested by ART in December 2019. 
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Its outcome cannot be anticipated at this stage.  

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work – which are, 

in particular, partially financed by the dividends received by the French 

State from SNCF and redistributed to SNCF Réseau – are based on a 

financial trajectory for the SNCF Group which is different from that used 

in the 2017 performance agreement and which has not been formally 

approved by the French State. This trajectory could prove to be different 

from the trajectory that will result from the discussions underway with the 

French State with a view to signing a new performance agreement covering 

the 2020-2029 period. 

• The new performance agreement for the 2020-2029 period is 

currently under discussion and its impacts cannot be measured at present. 

Key decisions are still under negotiation, in particular concerning network 

consistency and local transport services, as illustrated by the two 

agreements signed between the French State and the Grand-Est and 

Centre-Val de Loire regions on 20 February 2020. Under these 

agreements, the railway lines for these regions are organised into three 

distinct groups, one of which will be become part of the “structured” 

network. SNCF Réseau will finance its renovation, although the Company 

and the French State have not yet agreed on the terms and conditions of the 

financing of these renovation and maintenance investments.  

• As stated in Note 4.2.3 to the financial statements, the measures 

concerning the new pension scheme and, more broadly, the new social 

framework resulting from the rail industry agreements were still under 

negotiation at the reporting date and consequently could not be modelled. 

Thus, major risks and uncertainties continue to weigh on the discounted 

future cash flow assumptions used to measure the property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets presented in the balance sheet at 31 

December 2019. Consequently, the amount of the related impairment loss 

could increase significantly. 

As a result, we are unable to assess the pertinence of the projections and 

are therefore unable to express an opinion on the net value of the assets 

concerned, which amounted to €33.5 billion at 31 December 2019 

(including work-in-progress) for property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets.” 

B.12 Selected historical key financial information 

 The below selected historical key financial information of the Issuer is extracted from the consolidated financial 

statements of the Issuer as of 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019. 

Net profit for the year 

In millions of euros 31 December 2018 31 December 2019 

Recurring operating (loss)/profit 627 710 

Net financial expense (1,241) (1,306) 

Corporate income tax (771)  1 
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Net profit for the year (4,784)  (597) 

 

 Infrastructure fees 

In millions of euros 31 December 2018 31 December 2019 Change 

Access fees 1,986 2,022 35 

Route reservation fees 2,053 2,502 449 

Traffic fees 1,236 875 (361) 

Platform Fees 121 131 10 

Additional electricity and 

electricity transmission 

fees* 

211 238 27 

Other income 41 50 9 

Infrastructure fees 5,648 5,818 170 

Freight compensation 54 81 27 

Other revenue 323 342 19 

Total revenue 6,301 6,501 200 

*of which electricity transmission fee: M€ 133 as of 31 December 2018 and M€ 149 as of 31 December 2019. 

 Net financial expense 

In millions of euros 31 December 2018 31 December 2019 Change 

Expenses and income 

related to interests on 

debt and cash 

(1,255) (1,303) (48) 

Other financial income 10 7 (3) 

Other financial expenses (2) (7) (5) 

Cost of net debt (1,247) (1,304) (57) 

Finance cost of employee 

benefits 

7 (2) (9) 

Net financial expense (1,241) (1,306) (65) 

 

 Net Debt 

In millions 

of euros 

31 December 2018 31 December 2019 

 

Current Non-

current 

Net 

indebtedness 

Current Non-

current 

Net 

indebtedness 
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Equity 

investments 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other loans 

and 

receivables 

1,120 489 1,609 1,142 694 1,836 

Assets at 

fair value 

through 

profit or loss 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Positive fair 

value of 

derivatives 

259 820 1,079 140 1,029 1,170 

PPP 

financial 

assets 

266 2,384 2,650 268 2,250 2,518 

Financial 

assets 
1,645 3,693 5,337 1,551 3,973 5,524 

Cash and 

cash 

equivalents 

2,797 0 2,797 2,627 0 2,627 

Sub-total 

borrowings 
2,395 47,340 49,735 4,455 49,958 54,413 

Negative 

fair value of 

derivatives 

82 2,224 2,306 54 2,417 2,412 

Cash 

borrowings 

and 

overdrafts 

2,946 0 2,946 508 0 508 

PPP 

financial 

liabilities 

279 2,438 2,717 279 2,353 2,631 

Debt 5,723 52,002 57,724 5,325 54,728 60,053 

Net debt 

IFRS 
- - 49,590 - - 51,902 

Except as disclosed in the Base Prospectus, since 31 December 2019, the last day of the financial period in 

respect of which the most recent audited financial statements of the Issuer have been prepared, there has been (i) 

no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer and (ii) no material adverse change in the 

prospects of the Issuer. 

 

The subsection B.14 entitled “Dependence upon other entities within the group” of the section entitled “Summary of 

the Programme” on page 31 of the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 
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B.14 Dependence upon other entities 

within the group 

The Issuer is fully owned by Société nationale SNCF, the parent company 

of the SNCF Group, which itself is fully owned by the French State. 

As of 31 December 2019, most of the Issuer’s revenues come from the 

infrastructure fees paid by SNCF Mobilités for the use of the railway 

network. 

 

The subsection B.16 entitled “Controlling persons” of the section entitled “Summary of the Programme” on pages 32 

and 33 of the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.16 Controlling persons The Issuer is fully owned by Société nationale SNCF, the parent company 

of the SNCF Group, which itself is fully owned by the French State. Its 

share capital is non-transferable. 

  Mission de Contrôle Economique et Financier des Transports 

Pursuant to decree no. 2019-1453 dated 24 December 2019, the Issuer is 

subject to the economic and financial control of the French State. Such 

control is the responsibility of the Mission de Contrôle Economique et 

Financier des Transports (French Economic and Control Department) 

(“MCEFT”) under the supervision of the Economy and Budget Ministers. 

The MCEFT is responsible for informing, advising and controlling 

economic and financial matters related to Société nationale SNCF, SNCF 

Réseau, SNCF Voyageurs and SNCF Gares & Connexions. The MCEFT 

may inter alia issue any advice (avis) on any questions and planning 

decisions having an impact on the financial stability of Société nationale 

SNCF, SNCF Réseau, SNCF Voyageurs and SNCF Gares & Connexions. 

  

  Commissaire du gouvernement 

The Government Commissioner (Commissaire du gouvernement) ensures 

that the Issuer’s general strategy, as defined by the Board of Directors, is in 

accordance with the Issuer’s mission, public interests and with the 

performance contract entered into between the Issuer and the French State. 

He attends the meetings of the Board of Directors in an advisory capacity 

(avec voix consultative), nonetheless, he may inter alia require any 

question to be added on the agenda of a meeting of the Board of Directors 

and within three days following a meeting of the Board of Directors, he 

may oppose to any decision of the Board of Directors which could 

prejudice compliance with the golden rule principle which results from 

article L.2111-10-1 of the French Code des transports, decree no. 2019-

1582, dated 31 December 2019 and Article 23 of the Article of Association 

of the Issuer set out in decree no. 2019-1587, dated 31 December 2019. 

 

The paragraph entitled “Legal Risks” of subsection D.2 entitled “Key risks specific to the Issuer” of the section 

entitled “Summary of the Programme” on pages 52 and 53 of the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with 

the following paragraphs: 

D.2 Key risks specific to the Issuer  Legal risks 

o Risks in connection with the status of the Issuer: 
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following the adoption of the New Railway Pact, the legal 

form of the Issuer was transformed as of 1 January 2020 

from an EPIC to a limited liability company (société 

anonyme) and became subject to French law provisions 

governing insolvency and liquidation.  

o It is not yet possible to fully determine and anticipate the 

impact of the new financial policy of the SNCF Group, 

Société nationale SNCF becoming the sole issuer of notes 

on capital markets. 

o Real estate properties and assets which are necessary for 

national rail transport belonging to the Issuer or any of its 

subsidiaries, cannot be the subject of any attachment or 

other enforcement proceedings in France. 

o The French State has the power (and it has had in the 

past) to interfere in or influence decisions relating to the 

activities and organisation of the Issuer and the SNCF 

Group could be subject in the future to further 

reorganisations. 

o The Issuer and SNCF Gares & Connexions operate their 

activities within the context of a performance contract 

with the French State. 

o The financial trajectory of SNCF Réseau may be 

challenged by several factors that may be difficult to 

anticipate. 

o The Issuer’s activities require various administrative 

authorisations that may be difficult to obtain or whose 

grant may be subject to conditions that may become 

significantly more stringent. 

o The fees of SNCF Réseau, payable by passenger services 

and freight services operators are regulated. The level of 

such fees may have an impact on the Issuer’s results. 

o The first set of financial statements to be prepared by the 

Issuer which will reflect its activities, assets and liabilities 

post-transformation will be its unaudited interim 

condensed consolidated financial statements as at, and for 

the six-months ended, 30 June 2020 expected to be 

published on or about August 2020. This first set of 

financial statements may reflect some differences 

compared to the relevant financial statements of the Issuer 

prior to the entry into force of the New Railway Pact 

which could not have been anticipated by the Issuer. 

o Under French insolvency law, holders of debt securities 

issued by a French company are automatically grouped 

into a single assembly of holders. The commencement of 

insolvency proceedings against the Issuer would have a 

material adverse effect on the market value of Notes. Any 
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decisions taken by the assembly or a class of creditor, as 

the case may be, could negatively impact the noteholders 

and cause them to lose all or part of their investment. 

 

 

In subsection E.3 entitled “Terms and conditions of the offer”, of the section entitled “Summary of the Programme” 

on pages 62 to 63 of the Base Prospectus, reference to “EEA” shall be replaced by a reference to “EEA and/or in the 

United Kingdom”. 
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RÉSUMÉ EN FRANÇAIS  

(FRENCH LANGUAGE SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME) 

In subsection A.2 entitled “Consentement”, of the section entitled “RÉSUMÉ EN FRANCAIS” on pages 65 to 67 of 

the Base Prospectus, reference to “EEE” shall be replaced by a reference to “EEE et/ou au Royaume-Uni”. 

The subsection B.2 entitled “Siège social et forme juridique de l’Émetteur, la législation régissant son activité ainsi 

que son pays d’origine” of the section entitled “RÉSUMÉ EN FRANÇAIS” on pages 68 and 69 of the Base 

Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.2 Siège social et forme juridique 

de l’Émetteur, la législation 

régissant son activité ainsi que 

son pays d’origine 

SNCF Réseau est une société anonyme, filiale de Société nationale SNCF 

SA (“Société nationale SNCF”) qui est la société mère du Groupe SNCF 

(tel que défini ci-dessous) et entièrement détenue par l'État français. 

L'Émetteur résulte de la transformation de SNCF Réseau, établissement 

public à caractère industriel et commercial (“SNCF Réseau EPIC”), en 

société anonyme à la suite de l'entrée en vigueur au 1er janvier 2020 de la 

loi n°2018-515 du 27 juin 2018 et de l'ordonnance n°2019-552 du 3 juin 

2019 (ensemble le “Nouveau Pacte ferroviaire”). SNCF Réseau est 

désormais régie par les dispositions du Code de commerce applicables aux 

sociétés anonymes, elle dispose d'un capital social de 500,000,000€ 

constitué de 5,000,000 actions, chaque action ayant une valeur nominale de 

100€. L’Émetteur est immatriculé au registre du commerce et des sociétés 

de Paris sous le numéro 412 280 737 pour une durée de 99 ans, pouvant 

être prolongée. Son siège social est situé 15/17, rue Jean-Philippe Rameau, 

93200 Saint Denis, France, et son numéro de téléphone est le (+33) (0) 1 

71 92 60 00. Ses missions sont présentées dans le décret n°97-444 en date 

du 5 mai 1997. 

 

The subsection B.4 entitled “Tendances” of the section entitled “RÉSUMÉ EN FRANCAIS” on pages 69 to 71 of the 

Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.4b Tendances L’année 2020 est décisive pour l’ouverture à la concurrence des activités 

de transport ferroviaire de voyageurs. 

A la suite de la mise en place de Nouvel’R en 2018 et les nombreux 

chantiers lancés au cours de l’année 2019 (EOLE, CDG Express), SNCF 

Réseau devra répondre en 2020 aux mesures du Nouveau Pacte Ferroviaire 

avec notamment son passage en société anonyme entré en vigueur le 1er 

janvier 2020 et l’intégration de Gares & Connexions (« G&C ») en tant 

que filiale. 

SNCF Réseau sera une entité indépendante tout en étant sous la 

supervision de l’Autorité de régulation des transports (ex ARAFER), de ses 

autorités de tutelles et du Groupe SNCF. 

Cette indépendance est marquée par une nouvelle structure de financement 

qui s’appliquera à SNCF Réseau à partir 2020, avec notamment la reprise 

de la dette par l’Etat à hauteur de 25 milliards d’euros qui permettra de 

réduire significativement ses frais financiers de SNCF Réseau (environ 700 

millions d’euros par an en année pleine). L’équilibre de la dette sera assuré 

par la nouvelle « règle d’or » applicable à l’ensemble des investissements. 

L’année 2020 sera aussi significative pour les dépenses d’investissements 
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qui devraient atteindre près de 5,7 milliards d’euros, soit une progression 

de 173 millions d’euros sur 4 ans (avant transfert de G&C). Ces 

investissements auront notamment pour objectifs : 

- le maintien de la priorité au réseau structurant, en investissement et 

en maintenance ; 

- des efforts portés sur le réseau LGV et les lignes UIC 2 à 6 ; 

- la mise à niveau du réseau francilien ; 

- la poursuite des projets de développement : EOLE (Ligne E), CDG 

Express et TELT (Tunnel Euralpin Lyon Turin) principalement ; et 

- l’accélération de nouveaux projets portés par l’Etat et la Région Ile 

de France en lien avec les jeux olympiques 2024. 

 

The subsection B.5 entitled “Le groupe et la position de l’Émetteur au sein du groupe” of the section entitled 

“RÉSUMÉ EN FRANÇAIS” on pages 71 and 72 of the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the 

following: 

B.5 Le groupe et la position de 

l’Émetteur au sein du groupe 

Dans le contexte du Nouveau Pacte Ferroviaire, SNCF Réseau a été 

transformée d’un statut d’Établissement public à caractère industriel et 

commercial (“EPIC”) à celui de société anonyme et le Groupe SNCF a été 

réorganisé au 1er janvier 2020 en un groupe public unifié et intégré 

comprenant Société nationale SNCF (anciennement SNCF Mobilités, 

établissement à caractère industriel et commercial (« SNCF Mobilités 

EPIC ») et ayant absorbé l'ancien EPIC SNCF) devenue une société 

nationale à capitaux publics et étant la société mère du groupe, et plusieurs 

filiales dont notamment SNCF Réseau et SNCF Voyageurs, toutes ayant le 

statut de sociétés anonymes. 

  Le, et à compter du, 1er janvier 2020 et effectif à cette date, les operations 

suivantes ont été, entre autres réalisées :  

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, a transféré par voie d'apport à la valeur 

nette comptable, l'ensemble de ses biens, droits et obligations 

attachés à la gestion des gares de voyageurs à une société 

anonyme nouvellement créée et dont elle détient l’intégralité du 

capital (SNCF Gares & Connexions SA (« SNCF Gares et 

Connexions »). Le transfert à cette société anonyme (SNCF Gares 

& Connexions) de la dette financière liée à ces activités s’opère 

sans changement de débiteur, SNCF Mobilités EPIC demeurant 

seul débiteur des créanciers concernés. Le capital social de cette 

société anonyme est ensuite immédiatement transféré à sa valeur 

nette comptable à SNCF Réseau EPIC. SNCF Réseau transfère 

ensuite l'ensemble de ses biens, droits et obligations dans le cadre 

de la gestion des gares de voyageurs. 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, a transféré, par voie d'apport à la valeur 

nette comptable, à une société anonyme nouvellement créée et 

dont il détient l’intégralité du capital (“SNCF Voyageurs”) 

l'ensemble de ses biens, droits et obligations attachés à ses 

activités de transport de passagers. Le transfert à SNCF Voyageurs 
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de la dette financière liées à ces activités s’opère sans changement 

de débiteur, SNCF Mobilités EPIC demeurant seul débiteur des 

créanciers concernés. Dans l’ensemble des textes législatifs en 

vigueur au 1er janvier 2020, les termes “SNCF Mobilités” sont 

remplacés par les termes “SNCF Voyageurs”. 

 SNCF Mobilités, ayant le statut d’EPIC, a transféré par voie 

d'apport à la valeur nette comptable à une société anonyme dont il 

détient l’intégralité du capital (Fret SNCF SAS) l’ensemble de ses 

biens, droits et obligations (à l'exception de dette financière qui 

n’est pas transférée) liés à la fourniture de services de service de 

transport ferroviaire de marchandises en France et hors de France 

(l’ensemble de ces activités était anciennement rattaché à la 

branche logistique SNCF). 

Le périmètre des biens, droits et obligations ainsi transférés a été 

approuvée dans chacun des cas par plusieurs arrêtés conjoints du Ministre 

chargé des transports, du Ministre chargé de l'économie et du Ministre 

chargé du budget en date du 17 December 2019. 

De plus, le, et à compter du, 1er janvier 2020 :  

 La SNCF EPIC, est dissout de plein droit et l’intégralité de ses 

biens, droits et obligations sont repris à leur valeur nette 

comptable dans le cadre d’une dévolution universelle de 

patrimoine par SNCF Mobilités EPIC. 

 SNCF Réseau EPIC, est transformé en société anonyme, détenue 

intégralement par SNCF Mobilités EPIC. SNCF Réseau est 

attributaire des lignes du réseau ferré national, propriété de l’État 

français.  

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, est transformé en société nationale à 

capitaux publics, détenue intégralement par l'État français et 

renommée Société nationale SNCF. 

Les changements de statut juridique de SNCF Réseau EPIC, et de SNCF 

Mobilités EPIC n’emportent pas la création de personnes juridiques 

nouvelles ni cessation d'activités et les droits, obligations et autorisations 

de SNCF Réseau et de SNCF Mobilités, respectivement, ne sont pas 

affectés par ces changements. 

A la suite des opérations mentionnées ci-dessus, le nouveau groupe public 

unifié, réorganisé, détenu par l’État ayant pour objet l’accomplissement des 

missions de service public dans le domaine du transport ferroviaire et de la 

mobilité, est composé de Société nationale SNCF, détenant directement ou 

indirectement plusieurs filiales, dont SNCF Réseau, SNCF Voyageurs, 

Geodis et Keolis (Société nationale SNCF, ainsi que ses filiales contrôlées 

directement ou indirectement au sens de l'article L. 233-3 I du Code de 

commerce français, formant collectivement le “Groupe SNCF”). 

  Les filiales consolidées de l'Émetteur par intégration globale sont les 

suivantes: 

   SNCF Gares & Connexions, qui était anciennement une filiale de 
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SNCF Mobilités EPIC est, à partir du 1 janvier 2020, une nouvelle 

filiale détenue à 100% par l’Émetteur. L’Émetteur estime que 

SNCF Gares & Connexions représentera approximativement 2 % 

du total de ses actifs consolidés. 

   SFERIS, une société qui réalise des travaux en France et fournit 

une expertise, filiale détenue à 100% par l'Émetteur. 

   ALTAMETRIS, société en charge, notamment, de la 

commercialisation de l'acquisition, du traitement et de 

l’évaluation des données par des vecteurs mobiles automatisés, 

principalement des drones et satellites, filiale détenue à 100% par 

l'Émetteur. 

   ImmoRESEAU, société en charge de détenir des participation 

dans ces sociétés dont les activités consistent à développer et 

promouvoir des biens immobiliers et d’évaluer des terrains, filiale 

détenue à 100% par l’Émetteur. 

 

Sub-sections B.10 entitled “Réserves du rapport d’audit” and B.12 entitled “Informations financières historiques clés 

sélectionnées” of the section entitled “RÉSUMÉ EN FRANÇAIS” on pages 72 to 80 of the Base Prospectus shall be 

deleted and replaced with the following:  

B.10 Réserves du rapport d’audit Les comptes consolidés et individuels de l’Émetteur pour les exercices clos 

le 31 décembre 2018 et le 31 décembre 2019 ont été vérifiés par les 

commissaires aux comptes qui ont émis des rapports d’audit. Ces rapports 

d’audit contiennent concernant l’exercice clos le 31 décembre 2018 les 

réserves suivantes et concernant l’exercice clos le 31 décembre 2019 les 

réserves suivantes : 

Le rapport des commissaires aux comptes sur les comptes consolidés pour 

l’exercice clos le 31 décembre 2018 contient la réserve suivante : « Comme 

mentionné en Note 4.5 de l’annexe aux comptes consolidés relative au test 

de valeur des actifs de l’UGT infrastructure, l’entreprise a considéré que 

l’adoption le 14 juin 2018 de la loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte 

ferroviaire ainsi que diverses déclarations du gouvernement, concernant 

notamment une évolution des modalités d’indexation des péages, ont 

constitué de nouveaux indices de perte de valeur. L’entreprise a en 

conséquence réalisé un nouveau test en cours d’exercice selon la même 

méthodologie que celle utilisée au 31 décembre 2017, et a comptabilisé 

une dépréciation de 3,4 milliards d’euros complémentaire à celle de 9,6 

milliards d’euros comptabilisée en 2015 traduisant un nouvel équilibre à 

date de négociations entre l’entreprise et l’État. Ce nouvel équilibre 

suppose, d’une part, l’atteinte par l’entreprise de ses plans de productivité 

et, d’autre part, la mise en œuvre effective, notamment par l’État, de 

l’ensemble des moyens et engagements nécessaires pour soutenir la valeur 

recouvrable des actifs ainsi déterminée.   

Ainsi, les projections de trésorerie utilisées dans le test intègrent (i) des 

entrées de trésorerie (péages, redevances d’accès, subventions 

d’investissement) émanant notamment d’engagements de l’État, (ii) des 

dépenses (travaux et entretien des installations), des investissements de 
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renouvellement et des gains de productivité. 

• Pour le réseau en service, l’entreprise a maintenu l’année 2030 

comme année normative considérant qu’elle correspondra à l’année où le 

réseau sera stabilisé au niveau de performance attendu, ce niveau n’ayant 

jamais été atteint auparavant. La valeur terminale constitue la part 

essentielle de la valeur d’utilité. 

• Les flux de trésorerie utilisés pour supporter la valeur de ces actifs 

supposent l’atteinte par l’entreprise de plans de productivité encore plus 

ambitieux que ceux retenus pour les exercices précédents. 

• La trajectoire des péages du domaine conventionné est maintenue 

inchangée, par rapport à la clôture précédente, à un niveau plus soutenu 

que les activités TGV et Fret et ce malgré l’avis rendu par l’Arafer en 

février 2019 sur le DRR 2020, l’Entreprise considérant que le projet 

d’ordonnance actuellement en cours de revue par le Conseil d’État lui 

permettra de continuer à appliquer une indexation différente de celle de 

TGV et Fret. 

• Les subventions d’investissement affectées aux travaux de 

régénération et qui sont financées notamment à travers un fonds de 

concours par la redistribution par l’État à SNCF Réseau de ses dividendes 

perçus de SNCF, reposent sur une nouvelle trajectoire financière du 

Groupe Public Ferroviaire qui n’intègre pas les conséquences éventuelles 

des restructurations juridiques et fiscales à venir. En outre, ces subventions 

d’investissement issues de la trajectoire du Groupe ferroviaire n’ont pas 

reçu l’engagement formel de l’État. 

• Enfin, les flux de trésorerie utilisés sont issus d’une nouvelle 

trajectoire financière de SNCF Réseau qui devrait être intégrée dans un 

nouveau contrat de performance pour couvrir la période résiduelle 2018-

2026. Cette trajectoire a été présentée pour information au conseil 

d’administration de SNCF Réseau du 25 juillet 2018 sans faire l’objet 

d’une approbation formelle. 

Ainsi, des aléas et incertitudes majeurs pèsent sur les hypothèses de flux de 

trésorerie prévisionnels actualisés retenus pour l’évaluation des actifs 

corporels et incorporels et des actifs d’impôts différés figurant au bilan au 

31 décembre 2018 et, en conséquence, le montant des dépréciations 

afférentes pourrait augmenter de manière importante. 

Pour ces raisons, nous ne sommes pas en mesure d’apprécier le caractère 

probant de ces projections et donc de nous prononcer sur la valeur nette 

des actifs concernés qui s’élève au bilan au 31 décembre 2018 à 32,7 

milliards d’euros après dépréciation pour les immobilisations corporelles 

et incorporelles et à 2,8 milliards d’euros pour les actifs d’impôts 

différés. » 

Le rapport des commissaires aux comptes sur les comptes annuels pour 

l’exercice clos le 31 décembre 2018 contient la réserve suivante : « Comme 

mentionné en note 4.2.3 de l’annexe aux comptes annuels relative au test 

de valeur des actifs de l’UGT infrastructure, l’entreprise a considéré que 

l’adoption le 14 juin 2018 de la loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte 

ferroviaire ainsi que diverses déclarations du gouvernement, concernant 
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notamment une évolution des modalités d’indexation des péages, ont 

constitué de nouveaux indices de perte de valeur. L’entreprise a en 

conséquence réalisé un nouveau test en cours d’exercice selon la même 

méthodologie que celle utilisée au 31 décembre 2017, et a comptabilisé 

une dépréciation de 3,4 milliards d’euros complémentaire à celle de 9,6 

milliards d’euros comptabilisée en 2015 traduisant un nouvel équilibre à 

date de négociations entre l’entreprise et l’État. Ce nouvel équilibre 

suppose, d’une part, l’atteinte par l’entreprise de ses plans de productivité 

et, d’autre part, la mise en œuvre effective, notamment par l’État, de 

l’ensemble des moyens et engagements nécessaires pour soutenir la valeur 

recouvrable des actifs ainsi déterminée. Ainsi, les projections de trésorerie 

utilisées dans le test intègrent (i) des entrées de trésorerie (péages, 

redevances d’accès, subventions d’investissement) émanant notamment 

d’engagements de l’État, (ii) des dépenses (travaux et entretien des 

installations), des investissements de renouvellement et des gains de 

productivité : 

• Pour le réseau en service, l’entreprise a maintenu l’année 2030 

comme année normative considérant qu’elle correspondra à l’année où le 

réseau sera stabilisé au niveau de performance attendu, ce niveau n’ayant 

jamais été atteint auparavant. La valeur terminale constitue la part 

essentielle de la valeur d’utilité. 

• Les flux de trésorerie utilisés pour supporter la valeur de ces actifs 

supposent l’atteinte par l’entreprise de plans de productivité encore plus 

ambitieux que ceux retenus pour les exercices précédents. 

• La trajectoire des péages du domaine conventionné est maintenue 

inchangée, par rapport à la clôture précédente, à un niveau plus soutenu 

que les activités TGV et Fret et ce malgré l’avis rendu par l’Arafer en 

février 2019 sur le DRR 2020, l’Entreprise considérant que le projet 

d’ordonnance actuellement en cours de revue par le Conseil d’État lui 

permettra de continuer à appliquer une indexation différente de celle de 

TGV et Fret. 

• Les subventions d’investissement affectées aux travaux de 

régénération et qui sont financées notamment à travers un fonds de 

concours par la redistribution par l’État à SNCF Réseau de ses dividendes 

perçus de SNCF, reposent sur une nouvelle trajectoire financière du 

Groupe Public Ferroviaire qui n’intègre pas les conséquences éventuelles 

des restructurations juridiques et fiscales à venir. En outre, ces subventions 

d’investissement issues de la trajectoire du Groupe ferroviaire n’ont pas 

reçu l’engagement formel de l’État. 

• Enfin, les flux de trésorerie utilisés sont issus d’une nouvelle 

trajectoire financière de SNCF Réseau qui devrait être intégrée dans un 

nouveau contrat de performance pour couvrir la période résiduelle 2018-

2026. Cette trajectoire a été présentée pour information au conseil 

d’administration de SNCF Réseau du 25 juillet 2018 sans faire l’objet 

d’une approbation formelle. 

Ainsi, des aléas et incertitudes majeurs pèsent sur les hypothèses de flux de 

trésorerie prévisionnels actualisés retenus pour l’évaluation des actifs 

corporels et incorporels figurant au bilan au 31 décembre 2018 et en 

conséquence le montant des dépréciations afférentes pourrait augmenter 



 

24 

EMEA 124160865 
  

 

de manière importante. 

Pour ces raisons, nous ne sommes pas en mesure d’apprécier le caractère 

probant de ces projections et donc de nous prononcer sur la valeur nette 

des actifs concernés qui s’élève au bilan au 31 décembre 2018 à 32,7 

milliards d’euros après dépréciation pour les immobilisations corporelles 

et incorporelles. » 

Le rapport des commissaires aux comptes sur les comptes consolidés pour 

l’exercice clos le 31 décembre 2019 contient la réserve suivante : 

« Comme mentionné dans la note 4.5 de l’annexe aux comptes consolidés 

relative au test de valeur des actifs de l’Unité Génératrice de Trésorerie 

Infrastructure (« l’UGT »), la Société a considéré que la finalisation 

courant septembre 2019 du recensement des ouvrages de contournement 

dont la loi Didier de 2014 impose désormais l’entretien au gestionnaire 

d’infrastructure, et l’engagement pris le 29 août 2019 par le groupe SNCF 

d’abandonner le glyphosate d’ici à 2021, conduisent à une augmentation 

du coût d’entretien des voies  et à un risque de perte de valeur de l’UGT.  

La Société a en conséquence réalisé un nouveau test de valeur au 31 

décembre 2019 selon une méthodologie similaire à celle utilisée lors des 

précédentes clôtures, en excluant désormais les actifs gares de la base 

testée, ces derniers étant transférés au 1er janvier 2020 à sa nouvelle 

filiale SNCF Gares & Connexions, détenue à 100% à compter du 1er 

janvier 2020, pour une valeur nette comptable de 0,9 Md€. 

Ce test n’a pas conduit à une variation de la valeur nette comptable de 

l’UGT, l’équilibre des négociations entre l’Etat et SNCF Réseau qui sous-

tend la trajectoire financière n’ayant pas été remis en cause par la Société. 

Cet équilibre s’était traduit par la signature du contrat de performance 

d’avril 2017, puis par des amendements apportés par la loi d’habilitation 

pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire de juin 2018 ainsi que par certaines 

déclarations du gouvernement venues notamment modifier l’évolution de 

l’indexation des péages. Cet équilibre continue de supposer, d’une part, 

l’atteinte par la Société de ses plans de productivité et, d’autre part, la 

mise en œuvre effective, notamment par l’Etat, de l’ensemble des moyens et 

engagements nécessaires pour soutenir la valeur recouvrable des actifs 

ainsi déterminée, bien que l’Etat n’ait pas formellement reconfirmé ces 

engagements pour l’arrêté des comptes au 31 décembre 2019.  

Ainsi, les projections de trésorerie utilisées dans le test continuent 

d’intégrer (i) des entrées de trésorerie (péages, redevances d’accès, 

subventions d’investissement) émanant notamment d’engagements de 

l’Etat, (ii) des dépenses (travaux et entretien des installations), des 

investissements de renouvellement et des gains de productivité. 

• Pour le réseau en service, la Société a maintenu l’année 2030 

comme année normative considérant qu’elle correspondra à l’année où le 

réseau sera stabilisé au niveau de performance attendu, ce niveau n’ayant 

jamais été atteint auparavant. La valeur terminale constitue la part 

essentielle de la valeur d’utilité.  

• Les flux de trésorerie utilisés pour justifier la valeur de ces actifs 

supposent l’atteinte par la société de plans de productivité plus ambitieux 
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que ceux retenus dans le contrat de performance signé avec l’Etat en avril 

2017. 

• La trajectoire d’indexation des péages du domaine conventionné 

est maintenue inchangée, par rapport à la clôture précédente, à un niveau 

plus soutenu que celle relative aux activités TGV et Fret et ce malgré les 

avis de non-conformité rendus par l’ART (ex-ARAFER) en février 2019 et 

2020 sur les tarifs pour les horaires de services 2020 et 2021, la société 

considérant que l’ordonnance publiée le 11 mars 2019 lui permet de 

continuer à appliquer une indexation différente de celle de TGV et Fret. Un 

recours devant le Conseil d’Etat a été déposé par SNCF Réseau en 

septembre 2019, contesté par l’ART en décembre 2019, et dont l’issue ne 

peut être anticipée à ce stade.  

• Les subventions d’investissement affectées aux travaux de 

régénération et qui sont financées en partie à travers un fonds de concours 

notamment par la redistribution par l’Etat à SNCF Réseau de ses 

dividendes perçus de SNCF, reposent sur une trajectoire financière du 

Groupe SNCF différente de celle retenue dans le contrat de performance 

de 2017 et qui n’a pas fait l’objet d’une approbation formelle de l’Etat. 

Cette trajectoire pourrait s’avérer différente de celle qui sera issue des 

discussions en cours avec l’Etat dans la perspective de la signature d’un 

nouveau contrat de performance couvrant la période 2020-2029. 

• Le nouveau contrat de performance pour la période 2020-2029 est 

en cours de discussion, et ses incidences ne peuvent être mesurées à date. 

Des arbitrages structurants sont toujours en cours de négociation, 

notamment sur la consistance du réseau et les dessertes fines, comme 

l’illustrent les deux accords signés entre l’Etat et les régions Grand-Est et 

Centre-Val de Loire le 20 février 2020. Ces accords structurent les lignes 

de ces régions en trois groupes distincts dont l’un a vocation à être 

réintégré au réseau dit « structurant » et dont SNCF Réseau financera le 

renouvellement, sans que la Société et l’Etat ne se soient à ce stade 

accordés sur les modalités de financement de ces investissements de 

renouvellement et de maintenance.  

• Comme rappelé dans la note 4 .5 de l’annexe aux comptes 

consolidés, les mesures relatives au nouveau régime de retraite et plus 

largement au nouveau cadre social issu des accords de branche pour 

l’activité ferroviaire sont toujours en cours de négociation à la date 

d’arrêté des comptes et en conséquence n’ont pu être modélisées. 

Ainsi, des aléas et incertitudes majeurs continuent de peser sur les 

hypothèses de flux de trésorerie prévisionnels actualisés retenus pour 

l’évaluation des actifs corporels et incorporels et des actifs d’impôts 

différés figurant au bilan au 31 décembre 2019 et, en conséquence, le 

montant des dépréciations afférentes pourrait augmenter de manière 

importante. 

Pour ces raisons, nous ne sommes pas en mesure d’apprécier le caractère 

probant de ces projections et donc de nous prononcer sur la valeur nette 

des actifs concernés qui s’élève, d’une part, à 33,5 milliards d’euros au 31 

décembre 2019 (encours de production compris) pour les immobilisations 

corporelles et incorporelles, et d’autre part, à 2,8 milliards d’euros pour 
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les impôts différés actifs. » 

Le rapport des commissaires aux comptes sur les comptes annuels pour 

l’exercice clos le 31 décembre 2019 contient la réserve suivante : 

« Comme mentionné dans la note 4.2.3 de l’annexe aux comptes annuels 

relative au test de valeur des actifs de l’Unité Génératrice de Trésorerie 

Infrastructure (« l’UGT »), la Société a considéré que la finalisation 

courant septembre 2019 du recensement des ouvrages de contournement 

dont la loi Didier de 2014 impose désormais l’entretien au gestionnaire 

d’infrastructure, et l’engagement pris le 29 août 2019 par le groupe SNCF 

d’abandonner le glyphosate d’ici à 2021, conduisent à une augmentation 

du coût d’entretien des voies  et à un risque de perte de valeur de l’UGT.  

La Société a en conséquence réalisé un nouveau test de valeur au 31 

décembre 2019 selon une méthodologie similaire à celle utilisée lors des 

précédentes clôtures, en excluant désormais les actifs gares de la base 

testée, ces derniers étant transférés au 1er janvier 2020 à sa nouvelle 

filiale SNCF Gares & Connexions, détenue à 100% à compter du 1er 

janvier 2020, pour une valeur nette comptable de 0,9 Md€. 

Ce test n’a pas conduit à une variation de la valeur nette comptable de 

l’UGT, l’équilibre des négociations entre l’Etat et SNCF Réseau qui sous-

tend la trajectoire financière n’ayant pas été remis en cause par la Société. 

Cet équilibre s’était traduit par la signature du contrat de performance 

d’avril 2017, puis par des amendements apportés par la loi d’habilitation 

pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire de juin 2018 ainsi que par certaines 

déclarations du gouvernement venues notamment modifier l’évolution de 

l’indexation des péages. Cet équilibre continue de supposer, d’une part, 

l’atteinte par la Société de ses plans de productivité et, d’autre part, la 

mise en œuvre effective, notamment par l’Etat, de l’ensemble des moyens et 

engagements nécessaires pour soutenir la valeur recouvrable des actifs 

ainsi déterminée, bien que l’Etat n’ait pas formellement reconfirmé ces 

engagements pour l’arrêté des comptes au 31 décembre 2019.  

Ainsi, les projections de trésorerie utilisées dans le test continuent 

d’intégrer (i) des entrées de trésorerie (péages, redevances d’accès, 

subventions d’investissement) émanant notamment d’engagements de 

l’Etat, (ii) des dépenses (travaux et entretien des installations), des 

investissements de renouvellement et des gains de productivité. 

• Pour le réseau en service, la Société a maintenu l’année 2030 

comme année normative considérant qu’elle correspondra à l’année où le 

réseau sera stabilisé au niveau de performance attendu, ce niveau n’ayant 

jamais été atteint auparavant. La valeur terminale constitue la part 

essentielle de la valeur d’utilité.  

• Les flux de trésorerie utilisés pour justifier la valeur de ces actifs 

supposent l’atteinte par la société de plans de productivité plus ambitieux 

que ceux retenus dans le contrat de performance signé avec l’Etat en avril 

2017. 

• La trajectoire d’indexation des péages du domaine conventionné 

est maintenue inchangée, par rapport à la clôture précédente, à un niveau 

plus soutenu que celle relative aux activités TGV et Fret et ce malgré les 
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avis de non-conformité rendus par l’ART (ex-ARAFER) en février 2019 et 

2020 sur les tarifs pour les horaires de services 2020 et 2021, la société 

considérant que l’ordonnance publiée le 11 mars 2019 lui permet de 

continuer à appliquer une indexation différente de celle de TGV et Fret. Un 

recours devant le Conseil d’Etat a été déposé par SNCF Réseau en 

septembre 2019, contesté par l’ART en décembre 2019, et dont l’issue ne 

peut être anticipée à ce stade.  

• Les subventions d’investissement affectées aux travaux de 

régénération et qui sont financées en partie à travers un fonds de concours 

notamment par la redistribution par l’Etat à SNCF Réseau de ses 

dividendes perçus de SNCF, reposent sur une trajectoire financière du 

Groupe SNCF différente de celle retenue dans le contrat de performance 

de 2017 et qui n’a pas fait l’objet d’une approbation formelle de l’Etat. 

Cette trajectoire pourrait s’avérer différente de celle qui sera issue des 

discussions en cours avec l’Etat dans la perspective de la signature d’un 

nouveau contrat de performance couvrant la période 2020-2029. 

• Le nouveau contrat de performance pour la période 2020-2029 est 

en cours de discussion, et ses incidences ne peuvent être mesurées à date. 

Des arbitrages structurants sont toujours en cours de négociation, 

notamment sur la consistance du réseau et les dessertes fines, comme 

l’illustrent les deux accords signés entre l’Etat et les régions Grand-Est et 

Centre-Val de Loire le 20 février 2020. Ces accords structurent les lignes 

de ces régions en trois groupes distincts dont l’un a vocation à être 

réintégré au réseau dit « structurant » et dont SNCF Réseau financera le 

renouvellement, sans que la Société et l’Etat ne se soient à ce stade 

accordés sur les modalités de financement de ces investissements de 

renouvellement et de maintenance.  

• Comme rappelé dans la note 4 .2.3, les mesures relatives au 

nouveau régime de retraite et plus largement au nouveau cadre social issu 

des accords de branche pour l’activité ferroviaire sont toujours en cours de 

négociation à la date d’arrêté des comptes et en conséquence n’ont pu être 

modélisées. 

Ainsi, des aléas et incertitudes majeurs continuent de peser sur les 

hypothèses de flux de trésorerie prévisionnels actualisés retenus pour 

l’évaluation des actifs corporels et incorporels figurant au bilan au 31 

décembre 2019 et, en conséquence, le montant des dépréciations afférentes 

pourrait augmenter de manière importante. 

Pour ces raisons, nous ne sommes pas en mesure d’apprécier le caractère 

probant de ces projections et donc de nous prononcer sur la valeur nette 

des actifs concernés qui s’élève à 33,5 milliards d’euros au 31 décembre 

2019 (encours de production compris) pour les immobilisations corporelles 

et incorporelles. » 

B.12 Informations financières historiques clés sélectionnées  

Les informations financières historiques clés de l’Émetteur ci-dessous sont extraites des comptes consolidés de 

l’Émetteur au 31 décembre 2018 et au 31 décembre 2019. 

Résultat net 
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En millions d’euros 31 décembre 2018 31 décembre 2019 

Résultat opérationnel courant 627 710 

Résultat financier (1 241) (1 306) 

Impôts sur les résultats (771)  1 

Résultat net des activités 

ordinaires 

(4 784)  (597) 

 

 Évolution de la ventilation des redevances perçues par type 

En millions d’euros 31 décembre 2018 31 décembre 2019 Variation 

Redevance d’accès 1 986 2 022 35 

Redevance de réservation 2 053 2 502 449 

Redevance de circulation 1 236 875 (361) 

Redevance quai 121 131 10 

Redevances 

complémentaires 

d’électricité et de 

transport d’électricité* 

211 238 27 

Autres recettes 41 50 9 

Redevances 

d’infrastructure 

5 648 5 818 170 

Compensation FRET 54 81 27 

Autres produits 323 342 19 

Total Chiffre d’Affaires 6 301 6 501 200 

* dont redevance de transport d’électricité : 133 M€ au 31 décembre 2018 et 149 M€ au 31 décembre 2019. 

 Résultat financier 

En millions d’euros 31 décembre 2018 31 décembre 2019 Variation 

Charges et produits 

d’intérêts sur dette et 

trésorerie 

(1 255) (1 303) (48) 

Autres produits 

financiers 

10 7 (3) 

Autres charges 

financières 

(2) (7) (5) 

Coût de l’endettement 

financier net et autres 

(1 247) (1 304) (57) 
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Coût financier net des 

avantages du personnel 

7 (2) (9) 

Résultat financier (1 241) (1 306) (65) 
 



 

30 

EMEA 124160865 
  

 

 Dette 

En millions 

d’euros 

31 décembre 2018 31 décembre 2019 

 

Courant Non-

courant 

EFN* Courant Non-

courant 

EFN* 

Titres de 

participation 
0 0 0 0 0 0 

Autres prêts et 

créances 
1 120 489 1 609 1 142 694 1 836 

Actifs à la 

juste valeur 

par résultat 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Juste valeur 

positive des 

dérivés 

259 820 1 079 140 1 029 1 170 

Actifs 

financiers PPP 
266 2 384 2 650 268 2 250 2 518 

Actifs 

financiers 
1 645 3 693 5 337 1 551 3 973 5 524 

Trésorerie et 

équivalents 

de trésorerie 

2 797 0 2 797 2 627 0 2 627 

Sous-total 

Emprunts 
2 395 47 340 49 735 4 455 49 958 54 413 

Juste valeur 

négative des 

dérivés 

82 2 224 2 306 54 2 417 2 412 

Dettes de 

trésorerie et 

trésorerie 

passive 

2 946 0 2 946 508 0 508 

Passifs 

financiers PPP 
279 2 438 2 717 279 2 353 2 631 

Passifs 

financiers 
5 723 52 002 57 724 5 325 54 728 60 053 

EFN* - - 49 590 - - 51 902 

* EFN : Endettement Financier Net 

Sous réserve de ce qui est indiqué dans le Prospectus de Base, depuis le 31 décembre 2019, le dernier jour du 

dernier exercice pour lequel des comptes consolidés audités de l’Émetteur ont été publiés, (i) aucun changement 

significatif de la situation financière ou commerciale de l’Émetteur n’est survenu et (ii) aucune détérioration 

significative n’a affecté les perspectives de l’Émetteur. 
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The subsection B.14 entitled “Dépendance à l’égard des autres entités du groupe” of the section entitled “RÉSUMÉ 

EN FRANÇAIS” on page 84 of the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.14 Dépendance à l’égard des autres 

entités du groupe 

L’Émetteur est entièrement détenu par Société nationale SNCF, la société 

mère du Groupe SNCF, elle-même entièrement détenue par l’État Français.  

Au 31 décembre 2019, l’essentiel du chiffre d’affaires de l’Émetteur vient 

des redevances d’infrastructure payée par SNCF Mobilités pour 

l’utilisation du réseau ferroviaire.  

 

The subsection B.16 entitled “Contrôle” of the section entitled “RÉSUMÉ EN FRANÇAIS” on pages 85 and 86 of 

the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

B.16 Contrôle L’Émetteur est entièrement détenu par Société nationale SNCF, la société 

mère du Groupe SNCF, elle-même entièrement détenue par l’État français. 

Son capital est incessible. 

  Mission de Contrôle Économique et Financier des Transports 

Conformément au Décret n°2019-1453 du 24 décembre 2019, l’Émetteur 

est sujet au contrôle économique et financier de l’État Français. Ce 

contrôle est exercé par la Mission de Contrôle Économique et Financier 

des Transports (“MCEFT”) sous la supervision des Ministères de 

l’économie et du budget. 

La MCEFT est chargée d’un rôle d’information, de conseil et de 

contrôle en matière économique et financière auprès de Société 

nationale SNCF, SNCF Réseau, SNCF Voyageurs et SNCF Gares & 

Connexions. La MCEFT peut notamment émettre des avis sur toutes 

les questions et projets de décision ayant une incidence sur 

l’équilibre financier de Société nationale SNCF, SNCF Réseau, 

SNCF Voyageurs et SNCF Gare & Connexions. 

  Commissaire du gouvernement 

Le Commissaire du gouvernement s’assure que la politique générale de 

l’Émetteur, telle que définie par le Conseil d’administration, est conforme 

aux missions de l’Émetteur, aux intérêts publics et au contrat de 

performance passé entre l’Émetteur et l’État Français. Il assiste aux 

réunions du Conseil d’administration avec voix consultative, néanmoins, il 

peut notamment faire inscrire toute question à l’ordre du jour d’une 

réunion du Conseil d’administration et, dans les trois jours à compter d’une 

réunion du Conseil d’administration, il peut s’opposer à une délibération 

du Conseil d’administration pouvant conduire à remettre en cause le 

respect de la règle d’or résultant de l’article L.2111-10-1 du Code des 

transports, du décret n°2019-1582 du 31 décembre 2019 et de l’article 23 

des statuts de l’Émetteur annexés au décret n°2019-1587 du 31 décembre 

2019. 
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The paragraph entitled “Risques juridiques” of subsection D.2 entitled “Principaux risques propres à l’Émetteur” of 

the section entitled “RÉSUMÉ EN FRANÇAIS” on pages 104 and 105 of the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and 

replaced with the following: 

D.2 Principaux risques propres à 

l’Émetteur 
 Risques juridiques 

o Risques liés au statut de l’Émetteur : suite à l’adoption du 

Nouveau Pacte Ferroviaire, le statut de l’Émetteur a été 

transformé au 1er janvier 2020 d’un EPIC à une société 

anonyme soumise aux dispositions du droit français des 

procédures collectives.    

o Il n'est pas encore possible de déterminer et d'anticiper 

pleinement l'impact de la nouvelle politique financière du 

Groupe SNCF, Société nationale SNCF devenant le seul 

émetteur d'obligations sur les marchés financiers. 

o Les biens immobiliers et patrimoniaux nécessaires au 

transport ferroviaire national appartenant à l'Émetteur ou 

à l'une de ses filiales ne peuvent faire l'objet d'aucune 

procédure de saisie ou autre procédure exécutoire en 

France. 

o L'État français a le pouvoir (et a exercé ce pouvoir dans le 

passé) d'intervenir ou d'influencer les décisions relatives 

aux activités et à l'organisation de l'Émetteur et le Groupe 

SNCF pourrait faire l'objet à l'avenir de nouvelles 

réorganisations. 

o L’Émetteur et SNCF Gares & Connexions conduisent 

leurs activités dans le contexte d’un contrat de 

performance avec l’État français.  

o La trajectoire financière de SNCF Réseau peut être 

confrontée à plusieurs facteurs difficiles à anticiper. 

o Les activités de l’Émetteur requièrent diverses 

autorisations administratives qui peuvent être difficiles à 

obtenir ou dont l’obtention peut être soumise à des 

conditions pouvant devenir significativement plus 

rigoureuses.  

o Les redevances de SNCF Réseau payées par les 

exploitants des services de transport de passagers et des 

services de transport de marchandises sont réglementées. 

Le niveau de ces redevances est susceptible d’avoir un 

impact sur les résultats de l’Émetteur.  

o Les premiers états financiers préparés par l’Émetteur qui 

refléteront ses activités, biens, droits, obligations 

postérieurement à la transformation seront les comptes 

condensés intermédiaires consolidés pour la période de 6 

mois se terminant le 30 juin 2020 devant être publiés 

autour du mois d’août 2020. Ces premier états financiers 

pourraient refléter des différences comparés aux états 

financiers de l’Emetteur avant l’entrée en vigueur du 
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Nouveau Pacte Ferroviaire qui pourraient ne pas avoir été 

anticipés. 

o Dans le cadre du droit français des procédures collectives, 

les porteurs titres émis par une société française sont 

groupés de plein droit dans une assemblée unique. 

L’initiation d’une procédure collective à l’encontre de 

l’Émetteur pourrait avoir un effet négatif significatif sur la 

valeur de marché des Titres. Toute décision prise par 

l’assemblée des porteurs de titres ou une catégorie de 

créanciers, selon le cas, pourrait avoir un effet négatif 

pour les porteurs de Titres et ceux-ci pourraient perdre 

tout ou partie de leur investissement. 

 

 

In subsection E.3 entitled “Modalités et conditions de l’offre”, of the section entitled “RÉSUMÉ EN FRANCAIS” on 

page 113 of the Base Prospectus, reference to “EEE” shall be replaced by a reference to “EEE et/ou au Royaume-Uni”. 
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AMENDMENTS RELATING TO THE BREXIT TRANSITION PERIOD AND ENTRY INTO 

FORCE OF THE REGULATION (EU) 2017/1129 

All references in the Base Prospectus to “EEA” and “European Economic Area” on the front page of the Base 

Prospectus and in the section entitled “General Description of the Programme”, “Retail Cascades”, 

“Prospectus Supplement” should be updated in order to be followed by reference to “and/or the United 

Kingdom”. 

The seventh paragraph on page 4 of the Base Prospectus is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety by the 

following: 

“IMPORTANT – EEA AND UK RETAIL INVESTORS: If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes a legend 

entitled “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors”, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made 

available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA or the United 

Kingdom (the “UK”). For these purposes, a “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as 

defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that 

customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a 

qualified investor as defined in the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the “Prospectus Regulation”). Consequently no key 

information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the 

Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA or the UK has been prepared and therefore offering 

or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA or in the UK may be unlawful 

under the PRIIPs Regulation.” 

The paragraph entitled “Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors” in the section entitled “Subscription and 

Sale” on page 228 of the Base Prospectus is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety by the following: 

“Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors 

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies the “Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors” as “Not 

Applicable”, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be 

required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise 

make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the 

Final Terms in relation thereto to any retail investor in the EEA or the UK. For the purposes of this provision: 

(a) the expression retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of the following: 

(i)  a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, MiFID II); or 

(ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a 

professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; and 

(iii) not a qualified investor as defined in Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the Prospectus Regulation); and 

(b) the expression an offer includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the 

terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the 

Notes. 

The paragraph entitled “Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Directive” in the section entitled 

“Subscription and Sale” on pages 228-229 of the Base Prospectus is hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety by the 

following: 
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“Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Regulation 

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes specifies “Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK Retail Investors” as “Not 

Applicable”, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be 

required to represent and agree, that it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the 

offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to the public in any 

Member State of the EEA and the United Kingdom (each, a Relevant State) except that it may make an offer of Notes to 

the public in that Relevant State: 

(i) if the Final Terms in relation to the Notes specify that an offer of those Notes may be made other than pursuant to 

Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation in that Relevant State (a Non-Exempt Offer), following the date of 

publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that 

Relevant State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant State and notified to the competent authority in 

that Relevant State, provided that (i) the Issuer has given its written consent and (ii) any such prospectus has 

subsequently been completed by the Final Terms contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the 

Prospectus Regulation, in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or Final Terms, 

as applicable; 

(ii) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor under the Prospectus Regulation; 

(iii) at any time to fewer than 150, natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus 

Regulation), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any 

such offer; or 

(iv) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation, 

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (ii) to (iv) above shall require the Issuer or Dealer to publish a prospectus 

pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the Prospectus 

Regulation. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression offer of Notes to the public in relation to any Notes in any such Relevant 

State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the 

Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in 

that Relevant State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Regulation in that Relevant State.” 

The paragraphs entitled “Prohibition of sales to European Economic Area Retail Investors” in each of the sections 

entitled “FORM OF FINAL TERMS (LESS THAN €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANOTHER 

CURRENCY))” and “FORM OF FINAL TERMS (AT LEAST €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANOTHER 

CURRENCY))” on pages 235-236 and 259 of the Base Prospectus, respectively, are hereby deleted and replaced in 

their entirety by the following: 

“[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA AND UNITED KINGDOM RETAIL 

INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, 

sold, or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom. For these 

purposes, a “retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) 

of MiFID II or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a 

professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II. Consequently, no key information document required 

by Regulation (EU) No. 1286/2014 (the PRIIPs Regulation) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them 

available to retail investors in the European Economic Area or the United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering 
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or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area or the United 

Kingdom may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]” 

The paragraph entitled “33. Prohibition of sales to EEA Retail Investors” in “Part A - Contractual Terms” of the 

section entitled “FORM OF FINAL TERMS (LESS THAN €100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANOTHER 

CURRENCY))” on page 248 of the Base Prospectus and the paragraph entitled “33. Prohibition of sales to EEA 

Retail Investors” in “Part A - Contractual Terms” of the section entitled “FORM OF FINAL TERMS (AT LEAST 

€100,000 (OR ITS EQUIVALENT IN ANOTHER CURRENCY))” on page 272 of the Base Prospectus is hereby 

deleted and replaced in its entirety by the following: 

33. Prohibition of Sales to EEA and UK 
Retail Investors: 

[Applicable/Not Applicable] 

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute “packaged” products, “Not 
Applicable” should be specified. If the Notes may constitute 
“packaged” products and no KID will be prepared, “Applicable” 
should be specified.) 
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RISK FACTORS 

The paragraph entitled “Legal risks” of the section entitled “RISK FACTORS” on pages 115 to 119 of the Base 

Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced by the following: 

1.1 Legal risks 

Risks in connection with the status of the Issuer 

The New Railway Pact (as defined in the section “Description of SNCF Réseau”) provided for the transformation 

of the pre-reform SNCF group with the establishment, as from 1 January 2020, of a new state-owned unified group 

fulfilling the public service missions in the field of rail transport and mobility, composed of Société nationale 

SNCF (formerly SNCF Mobilités as an EPIC (pre-transformation) (“SNCF Mobilités EPIC”)) as the parent 

company of a group comprising several subsidiaries including SNCF Voyageurs (a new company carrying out 

most of the former activities of SNCF Mobilités EPIC) and the Issuer, having the form of a limited liability 

company (formerly SNCF Réseau as an EPIC (pre-transformation) (“SNCF Réseau EPIC”)) (see also the section 

“Description of SNCF Réseau” and the paragraph “The New Railway Pact”). As a result of the New Railway Pact, 

“SNCF Gares & Connexions” also became a subsidiary of the Issuer and the French railway network has been 

transferred to the direct ownership of the French State with subsequent attribution to the Issuer. 

The legal form of the Issuer was transformed automatically (de plein droit), by operation of law (du seul fait de la 

loi), from a French établissement public à caractère industriel et commercial (an “EPIC”) to a French limited 

liability company whose share capital, which is not transferrable, is held by Société nationale SNCF as from 1 

January 2020. Consequently, the statutory support inherent in the EPIC status whereby the relevant ministry is 

required to mobilise any additional financial contributions needed by an EPIC in case of financial difficulty is no 

longer available to the Issuer and, as from 1 January 2020, the Issuer became subject to the legal provisions 

applicable to limited liability companies, including provisions governing reorganisation, insolvency and liquidation 

of the limited liability companies. The loss of such statutory support may have a material adverse impact on the 

ability of the Noteholders to seek recourse against the Issuer, and its assets including in the case of any insolvency 

and liquidation (see “Risk relating to French Insolvency Law”). 

While it is too early to assess the impact of the New Railway Pact on the activities and financial performance of the 

Issuer and the SNCF Group (as defined in the section “Description of SNCF Réseau”), the New Railway Pact 

introduced various substantial reorganisations and reorientations of the Issuer and the SNCF Group which can have 

a material effect on the Issuer or the SNCF Group’s activities and/or its financial situation. 

Risks in connection with the new financing policy of the SNCF Group 

On 7 June 2019, the SNCF Group published a press release related in particular to its new financing policy and to 

the impact of such new policy on the debt of the Issuer. 

In the context of the New Railway Pact, Société nationale SNCF, parent company of the new unified group, will 

provide strategic and financial leadership for the combined group under the independence requirements governing 

infrastructure managers. As from 1 January 2020, Société nationale SNCF will act as sole issuer on the financial 

markets, entrusted with raising financing for the entire SNCF Group. 

Exceptionally and for operational reasons linked to the deployment of a single issuance system, for a transitional 

period that will not extend beyond 30 June 2020, the Issuer will be able to continue to raise its own funding on the 

capital markets, including through the issue of Notes under the Programme. 

It is not yet possible to fully determine and anticipate the impact of such new financial policy which will be set out 

on the activities and/or the financial situation of the Issuer, or on the liquidity and secondary market of the Notes 

(see Description of SNCF Réseau – News Financing Policy of the SNCF Group and Debt Relief Mechanism). 
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Certain assets of the Issuer cannot be the subject of any attachment or other enforcement proceedings in France 

Notwithstanding the transformation of the legal form of the Issuer into a limited liability company (société 

anonyme) which makes it subject as from 1 January 2020 to private-law enforcement procedures (voies d'exécution 

de droit privé), the Order (as defined in the section “Description of SNCF Réseau”) provides that all real estate 

properties and assets which are necessary for national rail transport belonging to the Issuer, provided that such real 

estate property has been transferred by Société nationale SNCF to the Issuer as of 1 January 2020, cannot be the 

subject of any attachment or other enforcement proceedings in France. The Order also gives to the French State a 

right to contest (droit d'opposition) any security interests being granted and/or disposals of such properties or 

assets.  

The national railway network and the real estate assets and properties (biens immobiliers) attributed to the Issuer by 

the French State or acquired by the Issuer on behalf of the French State cannot be subject to any attachment (saisie) 

or enforcement measures (voies d'exécution de droit privé) in France. 

This may have a material adverse impact on any potential recourse of the Noteholders against the Issuer and its 

assets in the event of any default by the Issuer under the Notes. 

The French Government may interfere in decisions that are important for the Issuer or the SNCF Group 

The Issuer is wholly owned by Société nationale SNCF which is wholly owned by the French State and, pursuant 

to Article 1 of the Order, under the control of the French State with respect to economic, financial and technical 

matters. Moreover, as a public services company, the Issuer remains subject to the supervision of the Cour des 

Comptes (French national audit office) a posteriori. 

Accordingly, the French State has the power (and it has had in the past) to interfere in or influence decisions 

relating to the activities and organisation of the Issuer and the SNCF Group. 

The New Railway Pact is the latest of several reforms and reorganisations decided by the French State to which the 

SNCF Group has been subject in the past and the SNCF Group could be subject in the future to further 

reorganisations having an impact on revenue sources, implementing new financial restrictions or giving rise to 

conflict with employees which can have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of 

operations. 

The Issuer and SNCF Gares & Connexions operate their activities within the context of a performance contract 

entered into with the French State 

In accordance with Article L. 2111-10 and Article L. 2111-10-1 A of the French Code des transports, applicable as 

of 1 January 2020, operating agreements (so-called “performance contracts”) have to be entered into between the 

French State and each of the Issuer and SNCF Gares & Connexions.  

While the above-mentioned performance contract with the Issuer has not yet been entered into, the performance 

contract dated 20 April 2017 and entered into between the French State and SNCF Réseau EPIC for ten-years (an 

update being conducted every three years), setting out objectives relating to inter alia quality services objectives, 

financial trajectory, development of the railway public service and land-use planning will remain in force post-

transformation and it is anticipated that an update will be conducted during the first half of the year 2020.  

SNCF Gares & Connexions will also be required to enter into performance contracts with the French State. It is 

anticipated that such contract will be entered into during the first half of the year 2020. 

It cannot be excluded that the updated performance contract (including on a new financial trajectory) which will be 

adopted can impose additional obligations on the Issuer or result in additional costs or contain financial or other 

obligations that are more restrictive to or onerous on the Issuer, than the obligations that are currently applicable 

and which in turn could have a material adverse effect on business, financial condition and results of operations of 

the SNCF Group. 
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Furthermore, the financial trajectory that will be included in the performance contract to be entered into between 

SNCF Gares & Connexions and the French State cannot be anticipated at this stage. 

The Issuer’s activities require various administrative authorisations that may be difficult to obtain or whose 

grant may be subject to conditions that may become significantly more stringent 

The development of the Issuer’s activities requires various administrative authorisations, at local and national 

levels. The procedures for obtaining and renewing these authorisations can be drawn out and complex. The Issuer 

may accordingly be required to pay significant amounts to comply with the requirements associated with obtaining 

or renewing these authorisations. 

Moreover, the Issuer is regulated by the Transport Regulatory Authority (Autorité de regulation des transports), the 

French Rail and Road regulator, which is in charge of acting on the operating rules regulating the French rail and 

road system. As such, the Transport Regulatory Authority issues binding opinions, in particular regarding rail 

matters, that may have an impact on the Issuer’s activities and business. 

In addition, the Issuer is exposed to other legislative, regulatory or political developments producing social 

instability or legal uncertainty which could affect the demands for the Issuer’s products and services and have an 

adverse effect on the Issuer’s activities, business and results. 

The fees of the Issuer, payable by passenger and freight services operators are regulated. The level of such fees 

could have an impact on the Issuer’s results 

Fees for using the national railway network are calculated in compliance with the European Union Directive 

2012/34/EU dated 21 November 2012 establishing a single European railway area, the European Union Regulation 

2015/909 dated 12 June 2015 on the modalities for the calculation of the cost that is directly incurred as a result of 

operating the train service and article L. 2111-25 of the French Code des transports (and other relevant French 

decrees). The level of tariffs charged by the Issuer to SNCF Voyageurs, Fret SNCF and other operators (current or 

future) of rail transport passengers and freight, not members of the SNCF Group, is first proposed by the Issuer but 

must be approved by the Transport Regulatory Authority. 

The level of the regulated tariffs will therefore depend on the discussions between the Transport Regulatory 

Authority and the Issuer. For example, for the year 2018, the Transport Regulatory Authority did not approve the 

level of tariffs proposed by the Issuer, obliging the Issuer to apply for 2018 the tariff approved for 2017 increased 

by a 1.1% railway inflation assumption rate for the “passengers” activity and increased by a 3.8% railway inflation 

assumption rate for the “freight” activity. For 2020, the Transport Regulatory Authority approved the level of tariff 

proposed by the Issuer but subject to certain qualifications. On 6 February 2020, the Transport Regulatory 

Authority issued an opinion on the level of the regulated tariff proposed by SNCF Réseau for the period 2021-2023 

and rejected the indexation proposed by SNCF Réseau related to the level of such regulated tariff. SNCF Réseau 

has three months to submit a new proposal to the Transport Regulatory Authority which will in turn have one 

month to issue a new opinion. 

Consequently, any decrease of the level of the regulated tariffs determined under this legal framework, as applied 

between SNCF Réseau and SNCF Voyageurs, Fret SNCF, and other operators (current or future) not members of 

the SNCF Group of rail transport passenger and freight, will have a negative net impact on the results of SNCF 

Réseau. 

The financial trajectory of the Issuer may be challenged by several factors that may be difficult to anticipate. 

Following the implementation of the New Railway Pact, the financial trajectory of the Issuer will include in 

particular the following: 

 the debt relief of the Issuer by the French State for EUR 25 billion in 2020 and EUR 10 billion in 2022 

(see Description of SNCF Réseau – New Financing Policy of SNCF Group and Debt Relief Mechanism); 
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 an increase of investments of up to an estimated EUR 200 million each year as of 2022 by SNCF 

Réseau; and 

 an increase in TGV and freight revenues, as approved by the Transport Regulatory Authority, limited to 

that of the level of inflation. 

Such financial trajectory could be challenged by several external factors of uncertainty, including: 

 any refusal of the Transport Regulatory Authority to approve the level of regulated tariffs (see risk factor 

“The fees of the Issuer, payable by passenger and freight services operators are regulated. The level of 

such fees could have an impact on the Issuer’s results”); 

 the amplitude of any economic downturns; 

 any reconsideration as to assumption of a further EUR 10 billion of outstanding financial indebtedness 

obligations of SNCF Réseau in 2022 which requires legislative approval by the loi de finance for the 

year 2022; and 

 any further reform of the French railway sector. 

Risk relating to the absence of financial statements of the Issuer in its post-transformation configuration as of 

the date of this Base Prospectus 

Neither the Issuer nor any other member of the SNCF Group (including Société nationale SNCF and SNCF 

Voyageurs) has prepared any financial statements (actual or pro forma) reflecting its financial situation in its new 

configuration as a result of the New Railway Pact as at and from 1 January 2020. The financial statements of the 

Issuer as at, and for the year ended, 31 December 2019 to be published at the beginning of March 2020 will still 

reflect the assets, liabilities and financial situation of these entities prior to such transformation. 

The first set of financial statements to be prepared by the Issuer which will reflect its activities, assets and liabilities 

post-transformation will be its unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements as at, and for the six-

months ended, 30 June 2020 expected to be published on or about August 2020. As a result of the implementation 

of the New Railway Pact, SNCF Gares & Connexions is a direct subsidiary of the Issuer, the French railway 

network has been transferred to the direct ownership of the French State with subsequent attribution to the Issuer 

and concomitantly, the French State will assume the debt relief of the Issuer. Following those transactions, the first 

set of financial statements of the Issuer prepared post-transformation may reflect some differences compared to the 

relevant financial statements of the Issuer prior to the entry into force of the New Railway Pact which could not 

have been anticipated by the Issuer at the date of this Base Prospectus. 

Risk relating to French Insolvency Law 

Under French insolvency law, holders of debt securities issued by a French company are automatically grouped 

into a single assembly of holders (the "Assembly") in case of the opening in the Republic of France of a safeguard 

procedure (procédure de sauvegarde) or, if initiated by the Issuer, an accelerated safeguard procedure (procédure 

de sauvegarde accelérée), an accelerated financial safeguard procedure (procédure de sauvegarde financière 

accelérée) or a judicial reorganisation procedure (procédure de redressement judiciaire) of the Issuer, in order to 

defend their common interests. 

The Assembly comprises holders of all debt securities (including any Notes) issued by the Issuer, whether or not 

under a debt issuance programme (such as the Programme) and regardless of their governing law. 

The Assembly deliberates on the draft safeguard plan (projet de plan de sauvegarde or projet de plan de 

sauvegarde financière accélérée or procédure de sauvegarde accélérée) or draft judicial reorganisation plan (projet 

de plan de redressement) applicable to the Issuer and may further agree to: 

(i) increase the liabilities (charges) of holders of debt securities (including the Noteholders) by rescheduling 
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and/or writing-off debts; 

(ii) establish an unequal treatment between holders of debt securities (including the Noteholders) as 

appropriate under the circumstances; and/or 

(iii) decide to convert debt securities (including the Notes) into shares. 

Decisions of the Assembly will be taken by a two-third majority (calculated as a proportion of the debt securities 

held by the holders attending such Assembly or represented thereat). No quorum is required on convocation of the 

Assembly. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions relating to the representation of the holders of Notes issued by the Issuer 

described in the Terms and Conditions and, if applicable, the applicable Final Terms, will not be applicable to the 

extent they conflict with compulsory insolvency law provisions that apply in these circumstances. 

The procedures, as described above or as they will or may be amended, could have an adverse impact on holders of 

such Notes seeking repayment in the event that the Issuer were to become insolvent.  

It should be noted that a directive "on preventive restructuring frameworks, on discharge of debt and 

disqualifications, and on measures to increase the efficiency of procedures concerning restructuring, insolvency 

and discharge of debt, and amending Directive (EU) 2017/1132" has been adopted by the European Union on 20 

June 2019. Once transposed into French law (which should happen by 17 July 2021 at the latest), such directive 

should have a material impact on French insolvency law, especially with regard to the process of adoption of 

restructuring plans under insolvency proceedings. According to this directive, “affected parties” (i.e., creditors, 

including the Noteholders) shall be treated in separate classes which reflect certain class formation criteria for the 

purpose of adopting a restructuring plan. Classes shall be formed in such a way that each class comprises claims or 

interests with rights that are sufficiently similar to justify considering the members of the class a homogenous 

group with commonality of interest. As a minimum, secured and unsecured claims shall be treated in separate 

classes for the purpose of adopting a restructuring plan. A restructuring plan shall be deemed to be adopted by 

affected parties, provided that a majority in the amount of their claims or interests is obtained in each and every 

class (the required majorities shall be laid down by Member States at not higher than 75% in the amount of claims 

or interests in each class). If the restructuring plan is not approved by each and every class of affected parties, the 

plan may however be confirmed by a judicial or administrative authority by applying a cross-class cram-down, 

provided that: 

· the plan has been notified to all known creditors likely to be affected by it; 

· the plan complies with the best interest of creditors test (i.e., no dissenting creditor would be worse off 

under the restructuring plan than they would be in the event of liquidation, whether piecemeal or sale as a 

going concern); 

· any new financing is necessary to implement the restructuring plan and does not unfairly prejudice the 

interest of creditors; 

· the plan has been approved by a majority of the voting classes of affected parties, provided that at least one 

of those classes is a secured creditors class or is senior to the ordinary unsecured creditors class; or, failing 

that, by at least one of the voting classes of affected parties or where so provided under national law, 

impaired parties, other than an equity-holders class or any other class which, upon a valuation of the debtor 

as a going-concern, would not receive any payment or keep any interest, or, where so provided under 

national law, which could be reasonably presumed not to receive any payment or keep any interest, if the 

normal ranking of liquidation priorities were applied under national law;  

· the plan complies with the relative priority rule (i.e. dissenting classes of affected creditors are treated at 

least as favourably as any other class of the same rank and more favourably than any junior class). By way 

of derogation, Member States may instead provide that the plan shall comply with the absolute priority rule 

(i.e., a dissenting class of creditors must be satisfied in full before a more junior class may receive any 
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distribution or keep any interest under the restructuring plan); and 

· no class of affected parties can under the restructuring plan receive or keep more than the full amount of its 

claims or interests. 

Therefore, when such directive is transposed into French law, it is likely that the Noteholders will no longer 

deliberate on the proposed restructuring plan in a separate assembly, meaning that they will no longer benefit from 

a specific veto power on this plan. Instead, as any other affected parties, the Noteholders will be grouped into one 

or several classes (with potentially other types of creditors) and their dissenting vote may possibly be overridden by 

a cross-class cram down. 

The commencement of insolvency proceedings against the Issuer would have a material adverse effect on the 

market value of Notes. Any decisions taken by the Assembly or a class of creditor, as the case may be, could 

negatively impact the Noteholders and cause them to lose all or part of their investment. 

In the paragraph entitled “Financial risks” of the section entitled “RISK FACTORS” on pages 119 to 122 of the Base 

Prospectus, is deleted and replaced with the following 

Financial/Markets risks (interest rate, liquidity, counterparty and currency risks): 

· Interest rate risk: the Issuer is exposed to interest rate risk, given the substantial amount of net debt that it has to 

finance through the financial markets. Some of the indebtedness of the Issuer bears interest at variable rates, 

generally linked to market benchmarks such as EURIBOR. See also “-Factors which are material for the purpose 

of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme – Risks related to the structure of 

a particular issue of Notes – Reform and regulation of “benchmarks” below. The Issuer uses derivatives to actively 

manage the interest rate risk and minimise its impact and it monitors fluctuations of interest rates. However, if the 

Issuer is not able to successfully minimise the impact of these fluctuations, such fluctuation could have an adverse 

effect on the financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer. Any increase in interest rates would 

increase the cost of refinancing existing indebtedness or obtaining new financing. 

· Liquidity risk: liquidity risk is constantly hedged through the proactive management of liquidity requirements, and 

access to diversified sources of funding. The Issuer’s debt can also be bought by the State debt amortization fund 

(Caisse de la Dette Publique or CDP), allowing continued funding in times of difficult market access. However, 

financial markets can be subject to periods of volatility and shortages of liquidity. If the Issuer is unable to access 

the capital markets or other sources of financing at competitive rates for a prolonged period, its cost of financing 

may increase and its strategy may need to be reassessed. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect 

on the Issuer’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

· Counterparty risk: the Issuer is exposed to counterparty risk in the daily management of its cash flows and the 

management of its mid and long-term debt. The counterparty risk with credit institutions arises in connection with 

its cash investments and the subscription of derivatives from its financial partners insofar as the debtor refuses to 

honour all or part of its commitment or does not have the financial resources to meet such obligations. The Issuer 

manages this risk by entering into investment instruments and derivatives only with financial institutions having 

the credit rating and equity criteria set at the SNCF Group level. To hedge counterparty risk, the Issuer performs 

margin calls with its financial counterparties which rating is lower that the threshold defined at the SNCF Group 

level. 

· Currency risk: the Issuer negotiates foreign currency financing, which is translated into euros. Currency risk 

related to resources raised in foreign currencies is hedged systematically in order to convert these resources into 

euro. As a consequence of this hedging policy, the issuer expects that fluctuation of foreign exchange rates would 

not have a material impact on its financial condition and results.” 

The Issuer draws investors' attention to note 5.2 of the Issuer’s 2019 consolidated financial statements included in the 2019 

Financial Report (as defined below), which set out the Issuer’s net debt and net indebtedness as of 31 December 2019. 
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In addition to these risks which are specific to its financial market activities, the Issuer is also exposed to financing risks 

relating to its financial involvement in different investment transactions and counterparty risks involving customers or co-

financing bodies. The risk of relating to project financing is also a significant financial issue for the entire company. 

Risk relating to the assumptions used to measure the net value of the assets of the Issuer 

The statutory auditors report on the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019, contains a qualification, 

identifying risks and uncertainties resulting from the assumptions used by the Issuer to measure the net value of property, 

plant and equipment, intangible assets and deferred tax assets, which is set out below: 

“As stated in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements concerning impairment testing of the assets of the 

Infrastructure CGU, the Company considers that the finalisation in September 2019 of the mapping of the bypass facilities, 

whose maintenance is now the responsibility of the infrastructure management entity under the so-called “Didier Law” of 

2014, and the undertaking made on 29 April 2019 by the SNCF Group to eliminate glyphosate by 2021 will lead to an 

increase in track maintenance costs and to a risk of impairment for the CGU.  

Accordingly, the Company carried out another impairment test at 31 December 2019 based on a similar methodology to 

that used at the previous reporting dates, while excluding, going forward, station assets from the tested base, as they were 

transferred with effect from 1 January 2020 to its new, wholly-owned subsidiary, SNCF Gares & Connexions, for a 

carrying amount of €0.9 billion. 

This test did not result in a change in the CGU’s carrying amount, as the balance in the negotiations between the French 

State and SNCF Réseau underlying the financial trajectory was not challenged by the Company. This balance was turned 

into the signing of the April 2017 performance agreement and by the amendments provided by the June 2018 Law for a New 

Railway Pact (loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire) and certain declarations of the French government 

primarily modifying changes in the indexing of infrastructure fees. This balance in the negotiations remains based on the 

assumption that (i) the Company will achieve its productivity goals and (ii) the French State will effectively implement all 

means and make all commitments necessary to support the recoverable amounts of the assets as determined above, 

although the French State did not formally reconfirm these undertakings for the 31 December 2019 closing.  

The cash flow projections used for the test continue to comprise (i) cash inflows (infrastructure fees, access charges and 

investment subsidies) mainly arising from commitments received from the French State, and (ii) expenses (installation work 

and maintenance), capital investment in renovations and renewals, and productivity gains. 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year for the railway network currently in service, 

considering that 2030 will correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected performance levels, 

although these levels have never previously been attained. Terminal value represents the essential factor in measuring value 

in use.  

• The cash flow projections used to justify the assets’ values are based on the assumption that the Company will meet 

its productivity goals, which are more ambitious than those used in the performance agreement signed with the French 

State in April 2017. 

• The indexation trajectory for contractual infrastructure fees has been left unchanged from the previous reporting 

date, at a higher level than for TGV and Rail Freight operations despite the non-compliance opinions issued by the French 

transport authority (ART, formerly the French road and rail office [ARAFER]) in February 2019 and 2020 regarding the 

rates for the 2020 and 2021 service timetables, as the Company considers that the French order (ordonnance) published on 

11 March 2019 enables it to continue to apply a different indexation to TGV and Rail Freight. An appeal before the French 

Council of State (Conseil d’Etat) was filed by SNCF Réseau in September 2019 and contested by ART in December 2019. 

Its outcome cannot be anticipated at this stage.  

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work – which are, in particular, partially financed by the 

dividends received by the French State from SNCF and redistributed to SNCF Réseau – are based on a financial trajectory 

for the SNCF Group which is different from that used in the 2017 performance agreement and which has not been formally 

approved by the French State. This trajectory could prove to be different from the trajectory that will result from the 
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discussions underway with the French State with a view to signing a new performance agreement covering the 2020-2029 

period. 

• The new performance agreement for the 2020-2029 period is currently under discussion and its impacts cannot be 

measured at present. Key decisions are still under negotiation, in particular concerning network consistency and local 

transport services, as illustrated by the two agreements signed between the French State and the Grand-Est and Centre-Val 

de Loire regions on 20 February 2020. Under these agreements, the railway lines for these regions are organised into three 

distinct groups, one of which will be become part of the “structured” network. SNCF Réseau will finance its renovation, 

although the Company and the French State have not yet agreed on the terms and conditions of the financing of these 

renovation and maintenance investments.  

• As stated in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements, the measures concerning the new pension scheme 

and, more broadly, the new social framework resulting from the rail industry agreements were still under negotiation at the 

reporting date and consequently could not be modelled. 

Thus, major risks and uncertainties continue to weigh on the discounted future cash flow assumptions used to measure the 

property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and deferred tax assets presented in the statement of financial position at 

31 December 2019. Consequently, the amount of the related impairment loss could increase significantly. 

As a result, we are unable to assess the pertinence of the projections and are therefore unable to express an opinion on the 

net value of the assets concerned, which amounted to €33.5 billion at 31 December 2019 (including work-in-progress) for 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and €2.8 billion for deferred tax assets.”  

The auditors’ reports on the non-consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019 and on 

the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018 contain qualifications on the same topic and are, together 

with the auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2019, incorporated by reference in this 

Base Prospectus. 

 

The paragraph entitled “Insurance policy” of the section entitled “RISK FACTORS” on pages 122 to 123 of the Base 

Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced by the following: 

1.5 Insurance policy 

The SNCF Group, which include the Issuer, is insured for major risks involving its civil liability or affecting its 

goods, and has coverage for the operating losses resulting from damage to its goods or to the railway 

infrastructure. However, certain risks of the Issuer (such as cyber risks) do not benefit from insurance which, if 

such risks were to materialise, could have a material adverse effect on the Issuer business, financial condition and 

results of operations. 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

The section entitled “Documents Incorporated by Reference” on pages 140 to 143 of the Base Prospectus shall be 

deleted and replaced with the following: 

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents, which have previously 

been published or are published simultaneously with this Base Prospectus and have been filed with the AMF as competent 

authority in France for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and shall be incorporated in, and shall be deemed to form 

part of, this Base Prospectus: 

 the sections referred to in the table below included in the 2018 English language financial report (including, inter 

alia, the Issuer’s audited annual consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements, comprising the balance 

sheets, income statements and cash flow statements) including the free English language translation of the statutory 

auditors’ reports and the notes relating to such financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 

(“2018 Financial Report”), 

 the sections referred to in the table below included in the 2019 French language financial report (including, inter 

alia, the Issuer’s audited annual consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements, comprising the balance 

sheets, income statements and cash flow statements) including the English language statutory auditors’ reports and 

the notes relating to such financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (“2019 Financial 

Report”), 

 the sections referred to in the table below included in the 2019 French language corporate governance report 

(“2019 Corporate Governance Report”), and 

 the terms and conditions included in the base prospectuses and information memoranda referred to in the table 

below, 

save that any statement contained in this Base Prospectus or in any of the documents incorporated by reference in, and 

forming part of, this Base Prospectus shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Base Prospectus 

to the extent that a statement contained in any document subsequently incorporated by reference by way of a supplement 

prepared in accordance with Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive modifies or supersedes such statement (whether 

expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not, except as so modified or 

superseded, constitute a part of this Base Prospectus. 

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus may be obtained in accordance with paragraph 7 

“Documents available” in section “General Information” of this Base Prospectus. 

The table below sets out the relevant page references for the Issuer’s audited annual non-consolidated financial statements 

for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, the annual consolidated financial statements for the 

financial year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, the statutory auditors’ reports thereto and the 2019 Corporate 

Governance Report. 
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Information Incorporated by Reference 

Regulation (EC) 809/2004, as amended – Annex IV, 

minimum disclosure requirements for the debt and 

derivative securities registration document 

Reference 

4. Risk factors 2019 Financial Report, pages 27 to 36 

5. Information about the Issuer  

5.2 Investments 2019 Financial Report, pages 19 to 21 

6. Business Overview  

6.1 Principal activities 2019 Financial Report, pages 10 to 26 

8. Trend information  

8.2 Information on any known trends, uncertainties, 

demands, commitments or events that are reasonably likely 

to have a material effect on the issuer’s prospects for at 

least the current financial year. 

2019 Financial Report, page 60 

10. Corporate governance  

10. Administrative, Management and Supervisory bodies 2019 Corporate Governance Report, pages 3 to 18 

13. Financial Information Concerning The Issuer’s 

Assets And Liabilities, Financial Position And Profits 

And Losses 

 

The Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2018 

and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, pages 58-59 

2019 Financial Report, pages 64-65 

The Consolidated Income Statement for the years ended 31 

December 2018 and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, pages 60-61 

2019 Financial Report, pages 66-67 

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as at 31 

December 2018 and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, page 63 

2019 Financial Report, page 69 

The Consolidated Statement of changes in equity as at 31 

December 2018 and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, page 62 

2019 Financial Report, page 68 

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 

December 2018 and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, pages 64 to119 

2019 Financial Report, pages 70 to 125 

The Statutory Auditors’ Report on the Consolidated 

Financial Statements for the years ended 31 December 2018 

and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, pages 177 to 185 

2019 Financial Report, pages 184 to 192 
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Information Incorporated by Reference 

Regulation (EC) 809/2004, as amended – Annex IV, 

minimum disclosure requirements for the debt and 

derivative securities registration document 

Reference 

The Non-consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 

2018 and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, pages 140-141 

2019 Financial Report, pages 146-147 

The Non-Consolidated Income Statement for the years 

ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, page 142 

2019 Financial Report, pages 148 

The Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as at 31 

December 2018 and 2019 
2019 Financial Report, pages 149 

The Notes to the Non-consolidated Financial Statements as 

at 31 December 2018 and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, pages 144 to 176 

2019 Financial Report, pages 150 to 182 

The Statutory Auditors’ Report on the Non-consolidated 

Financial Statements for the years ended 31 December 2018 

and 2019 

2018 Financial Report, pages 187 to 193 

2019 Financial Report, pages 194-202 

13.6 Legal and arbitration proceedings 
2019 Financial Report, pages 13, 87-89 and 168-

169 

 

The table below sets out the relevant page references for the Terms and Conditions Incorporated by Reference. 

The Terms and Conditions Incorporated by Reference are incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus for the purpose 

only of further issues of Notes to be consolidated and form a single series with Notes already issued pursuant to the 

relevant Terms and Conditions Incorporated by Reference. 

Terms and Conditions Incorporated by Reference Reference 

Base Prospectus filed with the AMF on 11 June 2018 Pages 131 to 181 

Base Prospectus filed with the AMF on 30 May 2017 Pages 120 to 168 

Base Prospectus filed with the AMF on 31 May 2016 Pages 87 to 132 

Base Prospectus filed with the AMF on 1 June 2015 Pages 81 to 186 

Base Prospectus filed with the AMF on 5 June 2014 Pages 77 to 121 

Base Prospectus filed with the AMF on 6 June 2013 Pages 77 to 122 

Base Prospectus filed with the AMF on 7 June 2012 Pages 43 to 75 

Base Prospectus filed with the AMF on 9 June 2011 Pages 41 to 73 

Base Prospectus approved by the Commission de 

Surveillance du Secteur Financier (CSSF) on 10 June 2010 
Pages 28 to 60 
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Terms and Conditions Incorporated by Reference Reference 

Base Prospectus approved by the CSSF on 11 June 2009 Pages 27 to 58 

Base Prospectus approved by the CSSF on 13 June 2008 Pages 27 to 58 

Base Prospectus approved by the CSSF on 18 June 2007 Pages 24 to 52 

Base Prospectus approved by the CSSF on 12 July 2006 Pages 21 to 45 

Base Prospectus approved by the CSSF on 6 September 2005 Pages 20 to 44 

Information Memorandum registered by the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange on 8 July 2004  
Pages 11 to 36 

Information Memorandum registered by the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange on 11 July 2003 
Pages 11 to 36 

Information Memorandum registered by the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange on 4 July 2002 
Pages 11 to 35 

Document de Base registered by the Commission des 

Opérations de Bourse (COB) 3 July 2002 
Pages 12 to 37 

Information Memorandum registered by the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange on 10 April 2001 
Pages 10 to 33 

Document de Base registered by the COB on 10 April 2001 
Pages 11 to 36 

 

Information Memorandum registered by the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange on 30 November 2000 and registered by the 

COB on 29 November 2000 

Pages 10 to 33 

Information Memorandum registered by the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange on 26 November 1999 
Pages 10 to 33 

Information Memorandum registered by the Luxembourg 

Stock Exchange on 29 October 1998 
Pages 11 to 30 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The third paragraph of the section entitled “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES” on page 145 of the 

Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced by the following: 

The Notes are issued outside the Republic of France pursuant to and in accordance with an amended and restated fiscal 

agency agreement to be dated 5 March 2020, (as further supplemented and/or amended from time to time, the Fiscal 

Agency Agreement) and made between SNCF Réseau (the Issuer), BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 

in its capacities as fiscal agent (the Fiscal Agent, which expression shall include any successor to BNP Paribas Securities 

Services, Luxembourg Branch in its capacity as such), as registrar (the Registrar, which expression shall include any 

successor to BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch in its capacity as such), as principal paying agent (the 

Principal Paying Agent, which expression shall include any successor or additional principal paying agent appointed in 

accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement) and as transfer agent (the Transfer Agents, which expression shall include 

any successor or additional transfer agent appointed in accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement) and BNP Paribas 

Securities Services in its capacities as Paris paying agent (the Paris Paying Agent, which expression shall include any 

successor Paris paying agent appointed in accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement, and together with BNP Paribas 

Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch, the Paying Agents). For the purposes of making determinations or calculations of 

interest rates, interest amounts, redemption amounts or any other matters requiring determination or calculation in 

accordance with the Terms and Conditions of any Series of Notes (as defined below), the Issuer may appoint a calculation 

agent for the purposes of such Notes, in accordance with the provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement, and such 

Calculation Agent shall be BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch (the Calculation Agent, which expression 

shall include any successor or additional calculation agent appointed in accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement) 

unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms.  The Notes have the benefit of an amended and restated deed of 

covenant to be dated 5 March 2020 (as further supplemented and/or amended from time to time, the Deed of Covenant) 

executed by the Issuer in relation to the Notes.  Copies of the Fiscal Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are 

available for inspection during normal business hours at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and 

the Transfer Agents.  All persons from time to time entitled to the benefit of obligations under any Notes shall be deemed to 

have notice of, and shall be bound by, all of the provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant 

insofar as they relate to the relevant Notes. 
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DESCRIPTION OF SNCF RESEAU 

The section entitled “Description of SNCF Réseau” of the section entitled “RISK FACTORS” on pages 205 to 221 of 

the Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced by the following: 

INTRODUCTION 

SNCF Réseau (the “Issuer” or “SNCF Réseau”) results from the transformation of SNCF Réseau, établissement public à 

caractère industriel et commercial, into a société anonyme as a consequence of the entry into force on 1 January 2020 of the 

Law n° 2018-515 dated 27 June 2018 (the “Law”) and of the ordonnance n° 2019-552 dated 3 June 2019 (the “Order”, 

together with the Law, the “New Railway Pact”). SNCF Réseau is now governed by the provisions of the French Code de 

commerce applicable to a société anonyme. It has a share capital of €500,000,000 comprising 5,000,000 shares, with each 

share having a nominal value of €100 wholly-owned by Société nationale SNCF (“Société nationale SNCF”) which is the 

new parent company of the SNCF Group (as defined below). It is registered with the registre du commerce et des sociétés of 

Paris under n°412 280 737 for a duration of 99 years, subject to any further extension. Its registered and head office is 

15/17, rue Jean-Philippe Rameau, 93200 Saint Denis France, and its telephone number is (+33) (0) 1 71 92 60 00.  

Société nationale SNCF, the new parent company of the SNCF Group, is the former SNCF Mobilités EPIC transformed into 

its current legal form, status and role pursuant to the New Railway Pact. SNCF Mobilités EPIC was itself the result of an 

earlier transformation pursuant to law n°97-135 dated 13 February 1997 (the “1997 Law”) which, inter alia, with 

retroactive effect from 1 January 1997, created SNCF Réseau (originally Réseau Ferré de France) for the purposes of 

becoming the owner and operator of the French rail infrastructure network and assigned to SNCF Mobilités EPIC the role of 

rail operating company. 

As more fully described below, SNCF Réseau remains the operator of the French rail infrastructure network owned by the 

French State, carrying on the same activities as before the transformation, while the former rail operating activities of SNCF 

Mobilités EPIC have been transferred to a new company called SNCF Voyageurs. Both SNCF Réseau and SNCF Voyageurs 

are now wholly-owned, direct subsidiaries of Société nationale SNCF. 

HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT 

On 11 and 25 June 1996, the French Government presented a reform proposal to the French Parliament. The main purpose 

of the reform was to implement the provisions of European Directive n°91-440 in order to clarify the respective 

responsibilities and accounts of companies operating railway services and those which own and are responsible for the 

maintenance and management of railway infrastructure in France. The reform was implemented by the 1997 Act which was 

published on 15 February 1997 in the Journal Officiel (the “1997 Act”). The 1997 Act had retroactive effect as from 1 

January 1997, from which date the rail operating company has been Société nationale des chemins de fer français 

(“SNCF”) and the Issuer has been the owner and regulatory agency of the rail infrastructure. 

The 1997 Act and the relating decrees established the Issuer as an independent entity to own the French railway 

infrastructure, previously owned by SNCF. The railway reform had therefore separated ownership of the rail infrastructure 

(devolved to the Issuer) from its operation (devolved to SNCF).  

The fixed assets relating to railway infrastructure existing as at 1 January 1997 were transferred to the Issuer with effect 

from 1 January 1997. The infrastructure assets transferred were detailed in Decree n°97-445 of 5 May 1997 and principally 

included land and buildings, tracks, civil engineering structures and signalling, electrification and telecommunications 

equipment. From 1 January 1997, €20.5 billion worth of debt was transferred to the Issuer’s opening balance sheet from 

SNCF, corresponding to the portion of debt contracted by SNCF as at that date, relating to infrastructure financing 

operations. Therefore €20.5 billion of a total debt of €30.3 billion at 31 December 1996 (including on and off-balance sheet 

items, after currency swaps) is being repaid by the Issuer, although SNCF remains the legal debtor in relation to its 

creditors. The Issuer has undertaken to pay SNCF instalment payments corresponding to its percentage of the total amount 

due on each relevant date, in accordance with SNCF’s loan repayment schedule. 

Law n°2014-872 of 4 August 2014 relating to the latest railway reform in France at that time (the “Rail Reform Law”) was 

published in the Journal Officiel on 5 August 2014. The Rail Reform Law modified the structure of the French railway 
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organisation which had been implemented as from 1 July 2015 when its implementing decrees (published in the Journal 

Officiel on 11 February 2015) entered into force and the safety certificates were granted, allowing the entities to carry out 

their rail functions. 

The Rail Reform Law completely overhauled the French railway system as it stood at the time. Its objective was to improve 

the quality of public service, to ensure a high level of safety in the national railway system and to consolidate its financial 

equilibrium. It has profoundly transformed the system’s organisation to form a public rail group with three inseparable 

State-owned public entities (Etablissement public à caractère industriel et commercial – EPIC), SNCF, SNCF Réseau and 

SNCF Mobilités: 

 At the head of this rail public group, SNCF, a newly created State-owned public entity (Etablissement public à 

caractère industriel et commercial – EPIC), was responsible for strategic control and management, economic 

coherence, and for the public rail group’s industrial integration and social unity, SNCF Réseau EPIC and SNCF 

Mobilités EPIC being housed under SNCF EPIC to ensure that infrastructure maintenance and traffic management 

take into account the constraints of operating rail services. 

 SNCF Réseau EPIC was responsible of the infrastructure manager functions of the national rail network. 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC performed the full range of rail service operations. 

THE NEW RAILWAY PACT 

In the context of the New Railway Pact, SNCF Réseau has been transformed from an Etablissement public à caractère 

industriel et commercial-EPIC into a limited liability company (société anonyme) and the SNCF Group has been 

reorganised as of 1 January 2020 into a major unified and integrated public group comprising Société nationale SNCF 

(formerly SNCF Mobilités EPIC and having absorbed the previous EPIC SNCF) which became a fully state-owned limited 

liability (société nationale à capitaux publics) parent company, and several subsidiaries including, in particular, SNCF 

Réseau and SNCF Voyageurs, all of which being limited liability companies (société anonymes). 

On and with effect from 1 January 2020, the following transactions, amongst others, were completed: 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, transferred, by way of a contribution at the net accounting value, all its assets, rights and 

liabilities related to the management of public railway stations to a newly formed and wholly-owned limited 

liability company (SNCF Gares & Connexions SA (“SNCF Gares & Connexions”)). The financial debt 

associated with such activities was also transferred to this limited liability company, SNCF Mobilités EPIC, 

remaining the sole debtor of the relevant creditors. The share capital of this limited liability company was then 

immediately transferred to SNCF Réseau EPIC, at its net accounting value. SNCF Réseau then transferred all its 

assets and liabilities related to the management of the public railway stations to this limited liability company. 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, transferred, by way of a contribution at the net accounting value, all its assets, rights and 

liabilities related to its passengers activities to a newly formed and wholly-owned limited liability company 

(“SNCF Voyageurs”). The financial debt related to such activities was transferred to SNCF Voyageurs, with 

SNCF Mobilités EPIC, remaining the sole debtor of the relevant creditors. In all the legal texts in force on 1 

January 2020, the terms “SNCF Mobilités” are replaced by the terms “SNCF Voyageurs”. 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, transferred by way of a contribution at the net accounting value to a wholly-owned limited 

liability company (Fret SNCF SAS (“Fret SNCF”)) all its assets, rights and liabilities (except for the financial 

indebtedness which will not be transferred) related to the supply of rail freight transport services activities in 

France and abroad (formerly part of the SNCF Logistics Branch).  

The scope of the assets, rights and liabilities so transferred was approved by several arrêtés of the Minister for transport, the 

Minister for the economy and the Minister for the budget dated 17 December 2019. 

In addition, and also on and with effect from 1 January 2020: 
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 SNCF EPIC, was wound up and all its assets, rights, liabilities and authorisations were transferred at their net 

accounting value through a dévolution universelle de patrimoine (“merger absorption”) to SNCF Mobilités EPIC. 

 SNCF Réseau EPIC was transformed into a limited liability company, wholly-owned by SNCF Mobilités EPIC. 

The French railway network has been transferred to the direct ownership of the French State, and has been 

attributed to SNCF Réseau. 

 SNCF Mobilités EPIC, was transformed into a limited liability company (société nationale à capitaux publics) 

wholly owned by the French state and re-named Société nationale SNCF.  

The changes in the legal status of SNCF Réseau EPIC and SNCF Mobilités EPIC did not involve the creation of new legal 

entities or cessation of activities and all the rights, obligations and authorisations of SNCF Réseau and SNCF Mobilités, 

respectively, remain unaffected as a result of such changes. 

Following the above transactions, the newly reorganised State-owned unified group, in fulfilment of public service missions 

in the field of rail transport and mobility, is composed of Société nationale SNCF, holding directly or indirectly several 

subsidiaries, including SNCF Réseau, SNCF Voyageurs, Geodis and Keolis (Société nationale SNCF, together with its 

subsidiaries controlled directly or indirectly within the meaning of Article L. 233-3 I of the French Code de commerce being 

the “SNCF Group”). 

The New Railway Pact is based on the following principles: 

 the French State owns the entire share capital of Société nationale SNCF, whose shares are non-transferable. 

Société nationale SNCF owns, inter alia, the entire share capital of SNCF Voyageurs and SNCF Réseau, whose 

shares are also non-transferable. SNCF, SNCF Réseau and SNCF Voyageurs are subject to the legal provisions 

applicable to limited liability companies and their initial articles of association were determined by decree in the 

Conseil d'État which may be amended, as necessary, according to the rules stipulated in the French Code de 

commerce; 

 the purpose and objective of Société nationale SNCF is to lead and control the SNCF Group with a view to 

ensuring the strategic and financial management and defining its general organisation. In particular, it defines and 

leads industrial and innovation policies, human resources, and valuation and asset management policies of the 

SNCF Group. It also provides (i) pooled business services, for the benefit of the entire SNCF Group and (ii) 

transversal missions necessary for the proper functioning of the national rail transport system; 

 The SNCF Group as a whole is responsible for (i) operating and developing, in a fair and transparent manner, the 

national rail network in accordance with the public service principles in order to promote rail transport in France, 

(ii) operating and developing, in a fair and transparent manner, passenger train stations and other service facilities 

relating to the national rail network, (iii) fulfilling transversal duties essential to the proper operation of the 

national rail system for the benefit of all the participants in this system and, in particular, to secure the safety of 

persons, property and the rail network and (iv) guaranteeing national and international passenger and freight 

transport services; 

 SNCF Voyageurs operates, either directly or through its subsidiaries, rail transport services and conducts the other 

activities set forth in its articles of association; 

 SNCF Réseau is responsible for guaranteeing, in a fair and transparent manner, directly or through its subsidiaries, 

in accordance with public service principles and in order to promote rail transport in France sustainable 

development, regional planning and economic and social efficiency, and specifically (i) access to the rail 

infrastructure of the French national rail network, including the allocation of capacities and the pricing of this 

infrastructure and (ii) operational management of traffic on the French national rail network; 

 as from 1 January 2020, recruitment of personnel with special railway worker status has ceased for all new 

recruitments (current employees will continue to benefit from this historic status); and 
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 French passenger rail transport has been opened to competition; Île-de-France Mobilités, the French State and the 

regions having the option to open rail passengers’ transportation to competition according to the competition rules 

between 3 December 2019 and 24 December 2023. 

The essential elements of the New Railway Pact has been completed by various ordonnances or décrets adopted by the 

French Government. 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE SNCF GROUP 

In addition to SNCF Réseau, the SNCF Group comprises several direct or indirect subsidiaries including, SNCF Voyageurs, 

Fret SNCF, Keolis and Geodis:  

 

NEW FINANCING POLICY OF THE SNCF GROUP AND DEBT RELIEF MECHANISM 

On 7 June 2019, the SNCF Group published a press release announcing that as a consequence of the new financing policy 

of the SNCF Group, as from 1 January 2020, Société nationale SNCF will act as sole issuer on the capital markets, 

entrusted with raising financing for the entire SNCF Group. However, exceptionally and for operational reasons linked to 

the deployment of a single issuance system, for a transitional period that will not extend beyond 30 June 2020, SNCF 

Réseau will be able to continue to raise its own funding on the capital markets, including through the issue of Notes under 

the Programme, SNCF Réseau’s outstanding debt at 30 June 2020 remaining on SNCF Réseau balance sheet after this date. 

There are currently no plans to transfer this outstanding debt to Société nationale SNCF or any other entity of the SNCF 

Group. 

Additionally, in May 2019, the Issuer was included in the list of the French organismes divers d’administration centrale by 

the French Institut national des statistiques et des études économiques (INSEE). As a result of such inclusion, the Issuer 

shall be included by the Minister for the economy in a list, published by arrêté, of the entities prohibited, as from one year 

after the publication of such arrêté, from incurring indebtedness through credit institutions or financing companies that has 

a maturity of more than twelve months or from issuing securities (including issuing debt securities such as the Notes under 

the Programme) that have a maturity of more than twelve months. 
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Concomitantly to the transformation, the debt relief of SNCF Réseau by the French state has also been effected, the French 

State having assumed as from 1 January 2020 an amount of outstanding financial indebtedness obligations of SNCF Réseau 

corresponding to €25 billion in 2020 and having undertaken to assume a further €10 billion of outstanding financial 

indebtedness obligations of SNCF Réseau in 2022. This relief is aiming to significantly improve the financial structure of 

SNCF Réseau, and enhance its financial performance. Pursuant to the debt relief mechanism, SNCF Réseau lends and 

borrows the exact same amount to/from the Caisse de la dette Publique (the “CDP”, public debt fund). The characteristics 

(maturities, interest rate, etc.) of both loans fully replicate those of SNCF Réseau’s financial debt (including associated 

derivatives). The French State has replaced SNCF Réseau as debtor of the CDP by operation of law (i.e. the loi de finance 

for the year 2020) resulting in a €25 billion direct capital increase in SNCF Réseau’s equity, while SNCF Réseau still 

receives from CDP the interests and principal of the synthetic receivable until maturity of it. 

CORPORATE PURPOSE, ACTIVITIES AND GOLDEN RULE 

The corporate purpose of the Issuer, as specified in Article L. 2111-9 of the French Code des transports, as amended, is to 

promote French rail transport within a sustainable development framework, by ensuring: 

 the access to the national railway infrastructure including the allocation of capacity on, and the establishment of 

tariffs for using, this infrastructure; 

 operational management of traffic on the national railway network; 

 the maintenance, including upkeep for and renewing of the national railway infrastructure; 

 the development, layout, consistency and enhancement of the national railway network; 

 the management of the passengers railway stations through a subsidiary having a financial, organizational and 

decision making autonomy; 

 the management of the services infrastructure and its enhancement; and 

 transversal missions necessary to the operation of the national railway network, in particular in the context of the 

management of crisis situations and regarding the access of the railway transportation to disabled people. 

SNCF Réseau performs a public sector mission and enjoys a natural monopoly. 

Decree no. 97-444 of 5 May 1997 sets out the methods and procedures to be adopted by SNCF Réseau in performing its 

activities and when acting as prime contractor for investments in the national rail network (Article 3). It also stipulates that: 

 each year, SNCF Réseau shall submit an investment plan to the French government, with details as to how this 

plan is to be financed (Article 4); 

 SNCF Réseau shall also define the principles and objectives for managing the network’s taking into account the 

needs of the users and national defense and ensure the absence of discrimination in the right to access the network 

(Article 7). 

In addition, under Decree n°2003-194 of 7 March 2003, as amended, SNCF Réseau, in particular, is responsible for 

allocating national rail network infrastructure capacity and for ensuring that all train operators that comply with regulatory 

requirements have equal access to the national rail network. 

The Issuer’s revenues come from: 

 the infrastructure fees paid by users of the railway network, in particular SNCF Voyageurs; 

 the grants provided by the French State; 
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 cash transfers of Société nationale SNCF; and 

 any other grant coming from a public authority. 

According to Article L.2122-7-2-1 of the French Code des transports, revenues coming from the railway infrastructure 

management activities (including public grants) can only be used by SNCF Réseau to finance its own activities, including 

the service of its debt. SNCF Réseau may also use revenues coming from the railway infrastructure management activities 

to pay dividend to its shareholders, except shareholders controlling both a railway transportation company and the railway 

infrastructure manager. 

SNCF Réseau’s consolidated subsidiaries on a full consolidated basis (consolidation par intégration globale) are as follows: 

 SNCF Gares & Connexions, which was formerly a subsidiary of SNCF Mobilités EPIC is, as of 1 January 2020, a 

new 100% owned subsidiary of the Issuer. The Issuer estimates that SNCF Gares & Connexions will represent 

approximately 2% of its total consolidated assets. 

 SFERIS, a company that carries out project works in France and provides expertise, 100% owned by the Issuer. 

 ALTAMETRIS, a company in charge of inter alia commercialising the acquisition, processing and evaluate data 

by automated mobile vectors, mainly drones and satellites, 100% owned by SNCF Réseau; 

 ImmoRESEAU, a company in charge of holding shares in companies whose activities are to develop and promote 

real estate and land valuation, 100% owned by SNCF Réseau. 

SNCF Gares & Connexions 

The aim of SNCF Gares & Connexions is to ensure, in compliance with the guidelines relating to public services, consistent 

approach in the management of passengers' railway stations, by, in particular: 

 providing quality public services to railway companies, by giving them transparent and non-discriminatory access 

to the services and benefits offered in railway stations;  

 fostering complementarity and cooperation between collective and individual modes of transport; 

 contributing to balanced territorial developments by, in particular, (i) ensuring consistency of its investment 

decisions with local planning policies and (ii) ensuring appropriate balancing between expenditures and resources 

of the different railway stations it manages.  

Performance contracts and Golden Rule 

Measures for financing the rail system were introduced in order to: 

 guarantee a high level of safety for persons and goods on the network; 

 improve the quality of service offered to transport operators, particularly freight; 

 facilitate the financial recovery of the Issuer: financial trajectory agreement that should cover, within a period of 

ten years from the effective date of the multi-year performance contract (contrat pluriannuel de performance), the 

full cost of the network and control the change in debt carried by the Issuer. 

These measures are essentially implemented through: 

 a multi-year performance contract (contrat pluriannuel de performance) (2017-2026) with the French State which 

was entered into between the French State and the Issuer on 20 April 2017 (the “SNCF Réseau Agreement”) and 

which will be updated during the first half of 2020 following the entry into force of the New Railway Pact. 
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 The “golden rule” principle which results from article L.2111-10-1 of the French Code des transports, decree no. 

2019-1582, dated 31 December 2019 and Article 23 of the Article of Association of the Issuer set out in decree no. 

2019-1587, dated 31 December 2019 (the “Golden Rule”). 

In the context of the New Railway pact an obligation for SNCF Gares & Connexions to enter into a multi-year performance 

contract (contrat pluriannuel de performance) is also provided (the “SNCF Gares & Connexions Agreement”). 

The SNCF Réseau Agreement 

In accordance with Article L. 2111-10 of the French Code des transports, applicable as of 1 January 2020, an operating 

agreement has to be entered into between the French State and SNCF Réseau. In this respect, the operating agreement dated 

20 April 2017 and entered into between the French State and SNCF Réseau, as an EPIC, for ten-years (an update being 

conducted every three years), setting out objectives relating to inter alia quality services objectives, financial trajectory, 

development of the railway public service and land-use planning continues in force as is with SNCF Réseau post-

transformation and it is anticipated that an update will be conducted during the first half of the year 2020. 

The current performance contract is the equivalent of orders for an amount of €46 billion over 10 years and provides 

foreseeability on the investment track for SNCF Réseau and the railway sector. 

The performance contract allows SNCF Réseau the possibility to undertake long-term planning, which is mandatory for 

undertaking real industrial restructuring of its activities. It sets forth the following six strategic objectives: to establish a 

maintenance policy, in synergy with operations; to ensure a high level of safety and cost control; to implement a 

differentiated network management policy according to use; to develop commercial offers and improve the quality of SNCF 

Réseau service by strengthening partnerships with national railway network’s users; to build an innovative railway network, 

turned towards new technologies and committed to an ecological transition; to make SNCF Réseau a well performing 

infrastructure manager, the heart of excellence of the French railway sector; and to direct SNCF Réseau’s actions on a 

sustainable financial trajectory. 

According to the performance contract, more than €46 billion will be invested to modernise and renew the railway network 

to ensure a high level of security and of quality of service: 

 €28 billion will be dedicated to the renewal of the railway network (i.e., €3 billion per year from 2020); 

 €2 billion  will be dedicated over 10 years (€300 million per year from 2017 to 2019) to industrial and 

technological investments (machinery, IT, etc.) to modernise and overhaul efficiently the management of the 

railway network; 

 €4.5 billion will be invested by the French State and the local authorities in works in order to be compliant with 

security and accessibility requirements; and 

 €12 billion will be invested in the development of regional railway transport within the context of the Contrats de 

Plan Etat-Région. 

The performance contract pursues the effort already made by the French State, which has increased the amount spent on 

maintenance and renewal from €3 billion per year in 2007 to nearly €4.8 billion in 2018. It also supports the additional 

engagement of €100 million per year until 2020 in favour of renewal. 

The performance contract provides for well-balanced contributions to the final goal. In return to the French State significant 

contribution and in addition to the new revenues related to the increase of traffic, SNCF Réseau agreed to improve its 

performance. Launched on 4 January 2017, the internal performance plan of SNCF Réseau provides €1.2 billion of 

cumulative savings by 2026. 

The SNCF Gares & Connexions Agreement 

In accordance with Article L. 2111-10-1 A of the Code des transports an operating agreement have to be entered into 

between the French State and SNCF Gares & Connexions. In this respect, such operating agreement will have to set out the 
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targets of SNCF Gares & Connexions in respect of quality of service, financial trajectory, access granted to the passengers 

railway transportation companies to the passengers railway stations, security, maintenance of the passengers railway stations 

and equal development the various regions. It is anticipated that such contract will be entered into during the first half of the 

year 2020. 

The Golden Rule 

The purpose of the Golden Rule is to help control the SNCF Réseau’s debt. 

Investments in the national railway network development are assessed against the ratio defined as a ratio between the SNCF 

Réseau’s Net Debt and the SNCF Réseau’s Gross Profit (the “Ratio”). If the ceiling is exceeded, development investment 

projects will be financed by the French State, local authorities or any requesting party. If the ceiling is not exceeded, 

development investment projects are subject to financial assistance by the French State, local authorities or any other 

requesting party, to avoid any negative consequences on the SNCF Réseau’s accounts at the end of the amortisation period 

of the contemplated investments. 

These funding rules and the Ratio are intended to ensure a durable and sustainable distribution of the financing of the rail 

transport system between infrastructure managers and railway companies, taking into account the conditions of intermodal 

competition. 

Article L. 2111-10-1 of the French Code des transports has been amended by the New Railway Pact. These new provisions 

give rise to two investment categories: development and renewal (modernisation now representing a development operation, 

despite laws providing for specificities). 

The provisions identify three stages in the enactment of the new rules governing the financing of SNCF Réseau 

investments: 

 Until 1 January 2020: 

o The Ratio was capped at 18. Maintenance investments were governed by the performance contract. 

o As at 31 December 2018, the Ratio stood at 31.06. It has risen under the combined effects of the increase 

in the net debt repayment amount by €2,736 million and the decline in gross profit by €344 million.  

 From 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2026: 

The articles of association of SNCF Réseau, approved in the decree no. 2019-1587 dated 31 December 2019, set 

the level of the Ratio at 6 and the convergence terms so that the Ratio reaches the cap set in the articles of 

association no later than 31 December 2026. In addition, if the Ratio has not attained the cap, the financing rules 

for SNCF Réseau investments must comply with the following principles: 

o for renewal or modernisation projects, the investment level will be determined by SNCF Réseau so that 

the return on the investment is at least equal to the weighted average cost for SNCF Réseau after 

consideration of the risks specific to the investment; 

o SNCF Réseau cannot contribute to financial investment for development projects unless they involve 

modernisation. 

Should the Ratio comply with the cap before the set deadline, the provisions applicable as of 1 January 2027 could 

be applied in advance. 

 As of 1 January 2027: 

The rules governing the financing terms of SNCF Réseau investments will be established to control the debt in 

compliance with the cap and based on the following principles: 

o the investments supported by SNCF Réseau should not exceed the cap; and 
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o for any renewal or development investment project for the French national rail network requested by the 

French State, regional authorities, or any other third party, SNCF Réseau will determine its contribution to 

the project’s financing so that the return on the investment is at least equal to the weighted average cost 

for SNCF Réseau after consideration of the risks specific to the investment. 

Net Debt: refers to the net financial debt, calculated in accordance with French generally accepted accounting principles 

(French GAAP), at the redemption value, excluding current unmatured interests, resulting from the last non-consolidated 

financial statements of SNCF Réseau. 

Gross Profit: refers to the gross operating profit, calculated in accordance with French generally accepted accounting 

principles (French GAAP), resulting from the last non-consolidated financial statements of SNCF Réseau. 

External structures responsible for assessment 

Governmental organ control 

The Issuer is subject to control by the French State and independent authorities. Its financial statements are certified by 

statutory auditors. 

State control bodies 

Mission de Contrôle Economique et Financier des Transports 

Pursuant to decree no. 2019-1453 dated 24 December 2019, the Issuer is subject to the economic and financial control of the 

French State. Such control is the responsibility of the Mission de Contrôle Economique et Financier des Transports (French 

Economic and Control Department) (“MCEFT”) under the supervision of the Economy and Budget Ministers. 

The MCEFT for transport is responsible for informing, advising and controlling economic and financial matters related to 

Société nationale SNCF, SNCF Réseau, SNCF Voyageurs and SNCF Gares & Connexions. The MCEFT may inter alia 

issue any advice (avis) on any questions and planning decisions having an impact on the financial stability of Société 

nationale SNCF, SNCF Réseau, SNCF Voyageurs and SNCF Gares & Connexions. 

Commissaire du gouvernement 

The Government Commissioner (Commissaire du gouvernement) ensures that the Issuer’s general strategy, as defined by 

the Board of Directors, is in accordance with the Issuer’s mission, public interest and with the SNCF Réseau Agreement. He 

attends the meetings of the Board of Directors in an advisory capacity (avec voix consultative), nonetheless, he may inter 

alia require a specific question to be added on the agenda of a meeting of the Board of Directors and within three days 

following a meeting of the Board of Directors, he may oppose to any decision of the Board of Directors which could 

prejudice compliance with the Golden Rule. 

Inspection Générale des Finances 

The Issuer is also subject to investigation by the Inspection Générale des Finances (audit body of the French Finance 

Ministry). 

Etablissement public de sécurité ferroviaire 

In addition, the Issuer is subject to controls of an operational nature carried out by the French Railway Safety Authority, 

EPSF, in compliance with articles L. 2221-1 et seq. of the French Code des transports. 

Haut comité du système de transport ferroviaire 

The Haut comité du système de transport ferroviaire is a special committee comprising various representatives of the 

railway operators, users, customers and members of parliament and headed by the Minister of Transport, acting as a forum 

for all vested interests in the railway system with the objective of improving its governance. 
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Comité consultatif 

A consultative Committee (Comité consultatif) is established within SNCF Réseau including one député, one sénateur and, 

in particular, representatives of the authorities in charge of the organization of transportation and mobilities, local authorities 

having an interest in the activities of SNCF Réseau or SNCF Gares & Connexions, representatives of railway companies 

and representatives of associations in charge of the safeguard of environment. Such consultative Committee is consulted by 

the Board of directors of SNCF Réseau or SNCF Gares & Connexions, as the case may be, on the main directions (grandes 

orientations) followed by SNCF Réseau and SNCF Gares & Connexions. 

Independent authorities 

Cour des comptes 

The financial statements and management of the Issuer are subject to review by the Court of Auditors (Cour des Comptes) 

in accordance with Articles L. 111-4 and L. 133-1 of the French Code des juridictions financières. 

Transport Regulatory Authority 

The Issuer is also subject to the control and disciplinary powers of the French Transport Regulatory Authority (Autorité de 

régulation des transports (“Transport Regulatory Authority”)), created by Act no. 2009-1503 of 8 December 2009 and 

today codified in Articles L. 2131-1 et seq. of the French Code des transports. 

The role of the Transport Regulatory Authority has been reinforced for the purpose of contributing to the proper functioning 

of the public railway service and its competitive activities and adapts its powers in the context of the New Railway Pact. 

The Transport Regulatory Authority renders in particular a binding opinion (avis conforme) on the infrastructure fee scale 

proposed by the Issuer related to the use of the national railway network. 

The Transport Regulatory Authority also renders non-binding opinions (avis simples), in particular, on the performance 

contracts entered into between the Issuer and the French State, on its updates and on the annual reports relating to the 

implementation of the performance contracts. The Transport Regulatory Authority renders non-binding opinion (avis 

simples) on the total amount of financial support to be granted to the Issuer and on the Issuer’s contribution to investment 

projects which exceeds a threshold set out by decree and on the contemplated budget of SNCF Réseau. 

The Transport Regulatory Authority also renders a binding opinion (avis conforme) prior to the appointment, renewal or 

dismissal of the chief executive officer (directeur général) or chief executive officer and chairman of the board of directors 

(président directeur général). 

Its principal mission now includes also ensuring the independence and impartiality of the Issuer in connection with any 

decision taken by SNCF Réseau relating to the access to the railway network,  

AMF 

Finally, as an issuer of listed debt securities, the Issuer must comply with certain regulatory obligations with respect to the 

AMF (and in the other jurisdictions where it has listed debt securities). 

The Statutory Auditors 

Ernst & Young (“EY”) Audit and PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PWC”) Audit, represented by Mrs. Christine Vitrac and Mr. 

François Guillon have been appointed as principal statutory auditors of the Issuer for fiscal years 2015 to 2020. 

The mandate of the current statutory auditors of SNCF Réseau will remain unaffected as a result of the transformation of 

SNCF Réseau into a limited liability company. A general meeting of the Issuer to be held at the latest on 30 June 2020 will 

appoint the auditors of the Issuer for the fiscal years 2021 to 2026. 
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Financial statements 

The financial statements of SNCF Réseau as of, and for the year ended, 31 December 2019 will be approved by the general 

meeting of the shareholders of SNCF Réseau pursuant to the current provisions of the French Code de commerce. 

Neither the Issuer nor any other member of the SNCF Group (including Société nationale SNCF and SNCF Voyageurs) has 

prepared any financial statements (actual or pro forma) reflecting its financial situation in its new configuration as a result of 

the transformation as at and from 1 January 2020. The financial statements of the Issuer as at, and for the year ended, 31 

December 2019 to be published on or about February 2020 will still reflect the assets, liabilities and financial situation of 

the Issuer prior to its transformation. 

The first set of financial statements to be prepared by the Issuer which will reflect its activities, assets and liabilities post-

transformation will be its unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements as at, and for the six-months 

ended, 30 June 2020 expected to be published on or about August 2020. 

The strikes actions conducted by employees since the beginning of December 2019 are likely to have a negative impact on 

the revenues of the Issuer. 

Corporate Governance 

The Issuer complies with the corporate governance rules set out in the decree no. 53-707 dated 9 August 1953 relating to the 

control of the French State on national public companies and in the order no. 2014-948 dated 20 August 2014 relating to the 

governance and the transactions on the share capital of companies in which the French State is a shareholder (sociétés à 

participation publique). 

In the context of the New Railway Pact, the composition of the Board of Directors of SNCF Réseau includes 12 members: 

 three (3) members appointed by the general meeting of the shareholders, upon proposal of the French State; 

 one (1) representative of the French State; 

 four (4) members appointed by the general meeting of the shareholders; 

 four (4) representatives of the employees. 

According to the new article L. 2101-1-1 of the French Code des transports, a member of the Board of Directors or an 

executive officer (dirigeant) of SNCF Réseau or of SNCF Gares & Connexions cannot be, simultaneously, a member of the 

supervisory board or of the Board of Directors or a representative executive officer (dirigeant mandataire social) of a 

company which operates, directly or through one of its subsidiaries, as a railway transportation company or as the 

subsidiary of a railway transportation company.  

The new article L. 2122-1-4-1-1 of the French Code des transports provides that no legal entity other than SNCF Réseau, 

within SNCF Group, shall have any significant influence over the decisions taken by SNCF Réseau regarding the allocation 

of the railway network capacity and the fee invoiced in connection with such use of the railway network (the “Key 

Functions”). In this respect: 

 The members of the Board of Directors of SNCF Réseau, when they are employed by other legal entities of SNCF 

Group that are not infrastructure managers, shall not take part in decisions relating to Key Functions and to the 

appointment or dismissal of executive officers (dirigeant) in charge of decisions relating to Key Functions; 

 The persons in charge of decisions relating to Key Functions can only be subject to the authority, direct or indirect, 

of an executive officer (dirigeant) appointed after a binding opinion (avis conforme) rendered by the Transport 

Regulatory Authority; and 
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 SNCF Réseau shall set out in a code of conduct, to be reviewed by the Transport Regulatory Authority, the 

relevant steps taken to avoid any significant influence from another legal entity of the SNCF Group over the 

decisions relating to Key Functions.  

In compliance with article L. 2122-1-4-1-1 of the French Code des transports, article 11 of the articles of association of the 

Issuer provides that a person cannot be simultaneously appointed or employed:  

 as a member of the Board of Directors of SNCF Réseau and as a member of the Board of Directors of a railway 

transportation company; 

 as a person in charge of decisions relating to Key Functions and as a member of the Board of Directors of a railway 

transportation company; 

 as a member of the supervisory board of a company being part of SNCF Group and controlling at the same time a 

railway transportation company and an infrastructure manager, and as a member of the Board of Directors of such 

infrastructure manager; and 

 as a member of the Board of Directors of SNCF Réseau and as a member of the supervisory board of a railway 

transportation company. 

Article 5 of the decree no. 2019-1587 dated 31 December 2019 provides that the following decisions of the Board of 

Directors relating to the financial, organisational and operational strategy can be adopted only subject to approval of a 

majority of the members of the Board of Directors designated by the general meeting of the shareholders, those proposed of 

the French State being excluded: 

 approval of the amount of dividend which could be distributed, coming from revenues of activities of the Issuer 

other than those relating to the operation of the railway network; 

 adoption of the annual budget and of the estimated accounts; 

 adoption of the strategic plan; 

 decisions relating to any acquisition or disposal of an amount above a threshold set out in the internal regulation of 

the Board of Directors; 

decisions relating to any off-balance sheet commitment of an amount above a threshold set out in the internal regulation of 

the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors 

Names and title Positions 

Luc Lallemand 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Other positions within the Issuer 

Chief executive officer 

Positions outside the Issuer 

None 

Mrs. Elisabeth Ayrault 

Vice-chairman of the Boards of Directors (and 

Chairman of the Board of Directors until 29 

February 2020) 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 
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Présidente du Directoire of Compagnie Nationale du Rhône 

Administratrice of :  

- GEOPOST,  

- CEA (Commissariat à l’énergie atomique),  

- SER (Syndicat des énergies renouvelables)  

- Université de Lyon 

Member of  the Supervisory Board of GPMM (Grand port maritime de 

Marseille) 

M. Emmanuel Bossière 

French State Representative 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

Directeur de participation adjoint Transports, Agence des 

Participations de l’État 

Administrateur, French state Representative : 

- Française des Jeux 

- Aéroport Marseille Provence 

- GPMM (Grand port maritime de Marseille) 

M. Guillaume Hintzy 

 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

Directeur Financement et trésorerie Société nationale SNCF 

M. Pierre Izard 

 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

Directeur général délégué Technologies of Société nationale SNCF 

Vice-Président of the Supervisory Board of SYSTRA  

Vice-Président of the Board of Directors of l’UTP 

Administrateur of IFSTTAR 

Mrs. Valérie Pécresse 

 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 



 

63 

EMEA 124160865 
  

 

Positions outside the Issuer 

Présidente of the Conseil Régional d’Ile de France 

Censeur d’Aéroports de Paris 

Présidente d’Ile-de-France Mobilité 

M. Laurent Pichard 

 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

Direction du Budget – Sous Directeur 

Mrs. Marie Savinas 

 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

DRH Ferroviaire adjointe 

Mrs. Fanny Arav 

Representative of the employees (Salariés) 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

None 

M. Jean-René Delepine 

Representative of the employees (Salariés) 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

None 

Mrs. Christine Mequignon 

Representative of the employees (Salariés) 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

None 

M. Guy Zima 

Representative of the employees (Salariés) 

Other positions within the Issuer 

None 

Positions outside the Issuer 

None 
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The following institutions also attend the meeting of the board of directors: 

 Commissaire du gouvernement  

Sandrine Bernabei Chinzi, Commissaire du Gouvernement. 

 Mission de Contrôle Economique et Financier des Transports  

Philippe Dupuis, Chief of the Mission de Contrôle Economique et Financier des Transports. 

 Secrétaire du comité social et économique 

The Comité Social et Economique of SNCF Réseau is to be set up during the first quarter of 2020, and its secretary 

shall be appointed during its first meeting. 

Professional address of the members of the Board of Directors is: 15/17, rue Jean-Philippe Rameau, 93200 Saint Denis, 

France. 

Executive Officers 

The Chief Executive Officer is appointed for four (4) years. 

 Name Positions 

 Luc Lallemand 

Chief Executive Officer 

See above 

For the purpose hereof, the business address of the Chief Executive Officer is the head office of the Issuer. 

Conflict of Interest 

The Issuer is not aware of any potential conflicts of interest between any of the directors' duties or the Chief Executive 

Officer’s duties with respect to the Issuer and their private interests and/or other duties. 

The Audit, accounts and risk committee 

As of the date of this Base Prospectus, the composition of the Audit, accounts and risk committee is the following: 

Names Titles 

M. Guillaume Hintzy - Président See above 

M. Laurent Pichard See above 

M. Emmanuel Bossière See above 

Mme Fanny Arav See above 

Mme Christine Mequignon See above 

The Commissaire du Gouvernement and the Mission de Contrôle Economique et Financier des Transports will attend the 

meeting of the audit, accounts and risk committee: 

For details on the missions of the Audit, accounts and risk committee until the entry into force of the New Railway Pact, 

refer to pages 10 to 12 of the Issuer’s 2019 Corporate Governance Report, which is incorporated by reference into this Base 

Prospectus. 
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Legal documents concerning the Issuer may be consulted at the Issuer’s registered office 

SNCF RÉSEAU 

15/17 rue Jean-Philippe Rameau 

93200 Saint Denis 

France 

Tel: 33 (0)1 71 92 60 00 

Capital injections (Dotations en Capital) and “other bonds” (“Autres emprunts obligataires”) and “bank borrowings” 

(“Emprunts et dettes auprès des établissements de crédit”) as at 26 February 2019 

As a formerly State-owned public entity, the Issuer did not have any share capital in the legal sense of the term up to and 

including 31 December 2019. As of 31 December 2019, the cumulative amount of capital injections granted by the French 

State amounted to € 9.8 billion. As of 1 January 2020, following the transformation of SNCF Réseau into a limited liability 

company (société anonyme), such capital injections have been allocated to the share capital for € 500 million and 

accumulated deficit for the remaining € 9.3 billion (“report à nouveau”) (until the shareholder’ general meeting decides the 

final allocation of such amount). 

As of 26 February 2020, the “other bonds” (“Autres emprunts obligataires”) and “bank borrowings” (“Emprunts et dettes 

auprès des établissements de crédit”) of the Issuer amounted to € 52.597 billion increased by a net amount of € 176 million 

as compared with the amount shown in the 31 December 2019 audited non-consolidated balance sheet. The debt relief 

mechanism of the Issuer in effect since 1 January 2020 (see also the section “Description of SNCF Réseau” and the 

paragraph “New financing Policy of the SNCF Group and debt relief mechanism”) has decreased the net financial debt IFRS 

(dette nette IFRS) of the Issuer by €25 billion and increased its equity (capitaux propres) by the same amount. The item 

“other bonds” (“Autres emprunts obligataires”) and “bank borrowings” (“Emprunts et dettes auprès des établissements de 

crédit”) remains unaffected. 
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KEY FIGURES 

The section entitled “Selected Financial Information (from consolidated financial statements)” of the Base 

Prospectus on pages 222 to 224 of the Base Prospectus is hereby deleted and shall be replaced with the following: 

Net profit for the year 

In millions of euros 31 December 2018 

 

31 December 2019 

Recurring operating (loss)/profit 627 710 

Net financial expense (1,241) (1,306) 

Corporate income tax (771) 1 

Net profit for the year (4,784) (597) 

 

Infrastructure fees 

In millions of euros 31 December 2018 

 

31 December 2019 Change 

Access fees 1,986 2,022 35 

Route reservation fees 2,053 2,502 449 

Traffic fees 1,236 875 (361) 

Platform Fees 121 131 10 

Additional electricity and electricity 

transmission fees* 

211 238 27 

Other income 41 50 9 

Infrastructure fees 5,648 5,818 170 

Freight compensation 54 81 27 

Other revenue 323 342 19 

Total revenue 6,301 6,501 200 

*of which electricity transmission fee: M€ 133 as of 31 December 2018 and M€ 149 as of 31 December 2019. 

 

Net financial expense 

In millions of euros 31 December 2018 

 

31 December 2019 Change 

Expenses and income related to 

interests on debt and cash 

(1,255) (1,303) (48) 

Other financial income 10 7 (3) 

Other financial expenses (2) (7) (5) 

Cost of net debt (1,247) (1,304) (57) 
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In millions of euros 31 December 2018 

 

31 December 2019 Change 

Finance cost of employee benefits 7 (2) (9) 

Net financial expense (1,241) (1,306) (65) 

 

Net Debt 

In millions of 

euros 

31 December 2018 31 December 2019 

 

Current Non-current Net 

indebtedness 

Current Non-

current 

Net 

indebtedness 

Equity investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other loans and 

receivables 

1,120 489 1,609 1,142 694 1,836 

Assets at fair value 

through profit or 

loss 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

 Positive fair value 

of derivatives 

259 820 1,079 140 1,029 1,170 

PPP financial 

assets 

266 2,384 2,650 268 2,250 2,518 

Financial assets 1,645 3,693 5,337 1,551 3,973 5,524 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 

2,797 0 2,797 2,627 0 2,627 

Sub-total 

borrowings 

2,395 47,340 49,735 4,455 49,958 54,413 

Negative fair value 

of derivatives 

82 2,224 2,306 54 2,417 2,412 

 Cash borrowings 

and overdrafts 

2,946 0 2,946 508 0 508 

PPP financial 

liabilities 

279 2,438 2,717 279 2,353 2,631 

Debt 5,723 52,002 57,724 5,325 54,728 60,053 

Net debt - - 49,590 - - 51,902 
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

The paragraph entitled “THE REPUBLIC OF FRANCE” in section “SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE” on page 

230 of the Base Prospectus shall be deleted. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

The subsection 7 entitled “Material Contracts” in the section entitled “General Information” on page 287 of the 

Base Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

7. Except as disclosed in page 56 of the Second Supplement to the Base Prospectus, there are no material 

contracts (other than contracts entered into the ordinary course of the Issuer’s business) which could result in 

an obligation or entitlement arising in relation to any group member that is material to the Issuer’s ability to 

meet its obligations to Noteholders in respect of the Notes. 

The subsection 8 entitled “No Significant or material adverse change” of the section entitled “General 

Information” of the Base Prospectus on page 287 of the Base Prospectus is hereby deleted and shall be replaced 

with the following:  

“8. Except as disclosed in the Base Prospectus, since 31 December 2019, the last day of the financial period in 

respect of which the most recent audited financial statements of the Issuer have been prepared, there has been 

(i) no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer and (ii) no material adverse change in 

the prospects of the Issuer.”  

The paragraph (d) of the subsection 9 entitled “Documents available” of the section entitled “General 

Information” of the Base Prospectus on pages 287 and 288 of the Base Prospectus is hereby deleted and shall be 

replaced with the following: 

“(d) the audited financial statements of the Issuer (including the auditors' reports with respect thereto) for the years 

ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 and, hereafter, its most recent publicly available audited financial 

statements (including the auditors' reports with respect thereto); and” 

The subsection 11 entitled “Auditors” of the section entitled “General Information” of the Base Prospectus on 

page 288 of the Base Prospectus is hereby deleted and shall be replaced with the following:  

“11. The auditors of the Issuer are PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, 63, rue de Villiers, 92208 Neuilly sur Seine, and 

Ernst & Young Audit 1/2, place des Saisons, 92400 Courbevoie, Paris, La Défense 1, belonging to the 

Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes de Versailles and under the authority of the Haut 

Conseil du Commissariat aux Comptes. PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit and Ernst & Young Audit, auditors of 

the Issuer for the financial years 2018 and 2019, have audited the Issuer’s financial non-consolidated 

statements, with a qualification for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019, in accordance 

with French generally accepted accounting principles and the Issuer’s consolidated financial statements, with 

a qualification for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2019, in accordance with IFRS as 

adopted in the European Union. The auditors of the Issuer have no material interest in the Issuer.” 

The subsection 17 entitled “Benchmarks” in the section entitled “General Information” on page 289 of the Base 

Prospectus shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 

17. Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to EURIBOR or LIBOR which are 

respectively provided by the European Money Markets Institute (“EMMI”) and ICE Benchmark 

Administration Limited (“ICE”) or other reference rates as indicated in the relevant Final Terms. As at the date 

of this Base Prospectus, ICE and EMMI appear on the register of administrators and benchmarks established 

and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmark 

Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the “Benchmark Regulation”).  

Where applicable, the relevant Final Terms shall specify whether the relevant benchmark administrator appears 

on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and 

Markets Authority pursuant to the Benchmark Regulation and, whether, as far as the Issuer is aware, the 

transitional provisions in Article 51 of the Benchmark Regulation apply in relation to such benchmark 

administrator. 
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PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INFORMATION GIVEN IN THE SECOND SUPPLEMENT 

Person responsible for this Second Supplement 

Alain Quinet 

Directeur Général Exécutif of SNCF Réseau  

Declaration by person responsible for this Second Supplement 

The Issuer declares, after having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case and to the best of the 

knowledge of the Issuer, that the information contained in this Second Supplement is in accordance with the facts and 

contains no omission likely to affect its import. 

The consolidated and the non-consolidated financial statements of SNCF Réseau for the years ended 31 December 2018 

and 31 December 2019 were audited by the statutory auditors who issued audit reports which are reproduced on pages 

177-185 and 187-193 of the 2018 Financial Report and on pages 184-192 and 194-202 of the 2019 Financial Report. 

These reports contain qualifications. 

The statutory auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 contains 

the following qualification: “As stated in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements concerning impairment 

testing of infrastructure CGU assets, the Company considered that the adoption on 14 June 2018 of the Law for a New 

Railway Pact (loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire), in addition to various declarations of the French 

government concerning primarily a change in the methods for indexing infrastructure fees, constituted new indications 

of impairment. The Company therefore carried out an additional impairment test during the year, using the same 

methods that were used at 31 December 2017, and recognised an impairment loss of €3.4 billion, in addition to the €9.6 

billion impairment loss recognised in 2015 to take into account the new balance in the negotiations between the 

Company and the French State. The new balance in the negotiations is based on the assumption that (i) the Company 

will achieve its productivity goals and (ii) the State will effectively implement all means and commitments necessary to 

support the recoverable amounts of the assets as determined above. 

The cash flow projections used for the test comprise (i) cash inflows (infrastructure fees, access charges and investment 

subsidies) mainly arising from commitments received from the French State, and (ii) expenses (installation work and 

maintenance), capital investment in renovations and renewals, and productivity gains. 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year for the railway network currently in service, 

considering that 2030 will correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected performance 

levels, although these levels have never been attained. Terminal value represents the essential factor in measuring 

value in use. 

• The cash flow projections used to justify these assets’ values are based on the assumption that the Company 

will meet its productivity goals, which are even more ambitious than those used in previous years. 

• Projections for infrastructure fees in the regulated market have been left unchanged from the previous year-

end, at a higher level than for open access operations despite the noncompliance opinion issued by the French road 

and rail office (ARAFER) in February 2019 regarding the 2020 National Rail Network Statement, as the Company 

considers that the draft legislation currently under review by the French Council of State (Conseil d’État) will enable it 

to continue to apply a different indexation to open access. 

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work — which are mainly financed by dividends earned by 

SNCF that is redistributed by the French State to SNCF Réseau — are based on a new financial trajectory for the 

Groupe Public Ferroviaire which does not include the possible consequences of future legal and tax restructuring. The 

investment subsidies arising from the aforementioned trajectory have not obtained a formal commitment from the 

French State. 

• Lastly, the cash flow projections used are based on a new financial trajectory for SNCF Réseau that should be 

integrated in an amendment to the performance contract signed in April 2017, covering the residual period 2018-2026. 

The financial trajectory was presented for information purposes only to the SNCF Réseau Board of Directors on 25 

July 2018 (without being formally approved). 

There are major risks and uncertainties involved in the discounted future cash flow assumptions used to measure the 

property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and deferred tax assets presented in the statement of financial position 

at 31 December 2018. Consequently, the amount of the related impairment loss could increase significantly, for the 
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following reasons. 

For these reasons, we are unable to assess the pertinence of the projections and are therefore unable to express an 

opinion on the net value of the assets concerned, which amounted to €32.7 billion in the statement of financial position 

at 31 December 2018 after impairment for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and €2.8 billion for 

deferred tax assets.” 

The statutory auditor’s report on the non-consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 

contains the following qualification: “As stated in Note 4.2.3 to the financial statements concerning impairment testing 

of infrastructure CGU assets, the Company considered that the adoption on 14 June 2018 of the Law for a New 

Railway Pact (loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire), in addition to various declarations of the French 

government concerning primarily a change in the methods for indexing infrastructure fees, constituted new indications 

of impairment. The Company therefore carried out an additional impairment test during the year, using the same 

methods that were used at 31 December 2017, and recognised an impairment loss of €3.4 billion, in addition to the €9.6 

billion impairment loss recognised in 2015 to take into account the new balance in the negotiations between the 

Company and the French State. The new balance in the negotiations is based on the assumption that (i) the Company 

will achieve its productivity goals and (ii) the State will effectively implement all means and commitments necessary to 

support the recoverable amounts of the assets as determined above. The cash flow projections used for the test 

comprise (i) cash inflows (infrastructure fees, access charges and investment subsidies) mainly arising from 

commitments received from the French State, and (ii) expenses (installation work and maintenance), capital investment 

in renovations and renewals, and productivity gains: 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year for the railway network currently in service, 

considering that 2030 will correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected performance 

levels, although these levels have never been attained. Terminal value represents the essential factor in measuring 

value in use. 

• The cash flow projections used to justify these assets’ values are based on the assumption that the Company 

will meet its productivity goals, which are even more ambitious than those used in previous years. 

• Projections for contractual infrastructure fees have been left unchanged from the previous year-end, at a 

higher level than for TGV and Rail Freight operations despite the opinion issued by the French road and rail office 

(ARAFER) in February 2019 regarding the 2020 National Rail Network Statement, as the Company considers that the 

draft legislation currently under review by the French Council of State (Conseil d’État) will enable it to continue to 

apply a different indexation to TGV and Rail Freight. 

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work — which are mainly financed by dividends earned by 

SNCF that is redistributed by the French State to SNCF Réseau — are based on a new financial trajectory for the 

Groupe Public Ferroviaire which does not include the possible consequences of future legal and tax restructuring. The 

investment subsidies arising from the aforementioned trajectory have not obtained a formal commitment from the 

French State. 

• Lastly, the cash flow projections used are based on a new financial trajectory for SNCF Réseau that should be 

integrated in an amendment to the performance contract signed in April 2017, covering the residual period 2018-2026. 

The financial trajectory was presented for information purposes only to the SNCF Réseau Board of Directors on 25 

July 2018 (without being formally approved). 

There are major risks and uncertainties involved in the discounted future cash flow assumptions used to measure the 

property, plant and equipment, intangible assets presented in the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018. 

Consequently, the amount of the related impairment loss could increase significantly, for the following reasons. 

For these reasons outlined above, we are unable to assess the pertinence of the projections and are therefore unable to 

express an opinion on the net value of the assets concerned, which amounted to €32.7 billion in the statement of 

financial position at 31 December 2018 after impairment for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.” 

The statutory auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 contains 

the following qualification: 

“As stated in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements concerning impairment testing of the assets of the 

Infrastructure CGU, the Company considers that the finalisation in September 2019 of the mapping of the bypass 

facilities, whose maintenance is now the responsibility of the infrastructure management entity under the so-called 

“Didier Law” of 2014, and the undertaking made on 29 April 2019 by the SNCF Group to eliminate glyphosate by 
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2021 will lead to an increase in track maintenance costs and to a risk of impairment for the CGU.  

Accordingly, the Company carried out another impairment test at 31 December 2019 based on a similar methodology 

to that used at the previous reporting dates, while excluding, going forward, station assets from the tested base, as they 

were transferred with effect from 1 January 2020 to its new, wholly-owned subsidiary, SNCF Gares & Connexions, for 

a carrying amount of €0.9 billion. 

This test did not result in a change in the CGU’s carrying amount, as the balance in the negotiations between the 

French State and SNCF Réseau underlying the financial trajectory was not challenged by the Company. This balance 

was turned into the signing of the April 2017 performance agreement and by the amendments provided by the June 

2018 Law for a New Railway Pact (loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire) and certain declarations of the 

French government primarily modifying changes in the indexing of infrastructure fees. This balance in the negotiations 

remains based on the assumption that (i) the Company will achieve its productivity goals and (ii) the French State will 

effectively implement all means and make all commitments necessary to support the recoverable amounts of the assets 

as determined above, although the French State did not formally reconfirm these undertakings for the 31 December 

2019 closing.  

The cash flow projections used for the test continue to comprise (i) cash inflows (infrastructure fees, access charges 

and investment subsidies) mainly arising from commitments received from the French State, and (ii) expenses 

(installation work and maintenance), capital investment in renovations and renewals, and productivity gains. 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year for the railway network currently in service, 

considering that 2030 will correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected performance 

levels, although these levels have never previously been attained. Terminal value represents the essential factor in 

measuring value in use.  

• The cash flow projections used to justify the assets’ values are based on the assumption that the Company will 

meet its productivity goals, which are more ambitious than those used in the performance agreement signed with the 

French State in April 2017. 

• The indexation trajectory for contractual infrastructure fees has been left unchanged from the previous 

reporting date, at a higher level than for TGV and Rail Freight operations despite the non-compliance opinions issued 

by the French transport authority (ART, formerly the French road and rail office [ARAFER]) in February 2019 and 

2020 regarding the rates for the 2020 and 2021 service timetables, as the Company considers that the French order 

(ordonnance) published on 11 March 2019 enables it to continue to apply a different indexation to TGV and Rail 

Freight. An appeal before the French Council of State (Conseil d’Etat) was filed by SNCF Réseau in September 2019 

and contested by ART in December 2019. Its outcome cannot be anticipated at this stage.  

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work – which are, in particular, partially financed by the 

dividends received by the French State from SNCF and redistributed to SNCF Réseau – are based on a financial 

trajectory for the SNCF Group which is different from that used in the 2017 performance agreement and which has not 

been formally approved by the French State. This trajectory could prove to be different from the trajectory that will 

result from the discussions underway with the French State with a view to signing a new performance agreement 

covering the 2020-2029 period. 

• The new performance agreement for the 2020-2029 period is currently under discussion and its impacts cannot 

be measured at present. Key decisions are still under negotiation, in particular concerning network consistency and 

local transport services, as illustrated by the two agreements signed between the French State and the Grand-Est and 

Centre-Val de Loire regions on 20 February 2020. Under these agreements, the railway lines for these regions are 

organised into three distinct groups, one of which will be become part of the “structured” network. SNCF Réseau will 

finance its renovation, although the Company and the French State have not yet agreed on the terms and conditions of 

the financing of these renovation and maintenance investments.  

• As stated in Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements, the measures concerning the new pension 

scheme and, more broadly, the new social framework resulting from the rail industry agreements were still under 

negotiation at the reporting date and consequently could not be modelled. 

Thus, major risks and uncertainties continue to weigh on the discounted future cash flow assumptions used to measure 

the property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and deferred tax assets presented in the statement of financial 

position at 31 December 2019. Consequently, the amount of the related impairment loss could increase significantly. 

As a result, we are unable to assess the pertinence of the projections and are therefore unable to express an opinion on 
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the net value of the assets concerned, which amounted to €33.5 billion at 31 December 2019 (including work-in-

progress) for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and €2.8 billion for deferred tax assets.”  

The statutory auditor’s report on the non-consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 

contains the following qualification: 

“As stated in Note 4.2.3 to the financial statements concerning impairment testing of the assets of the Infrastructure 

CGU, the Company considers that the finalisation in September 2019 of the mapping of the bypass facilities, whose 

maintenance is now the responsibility of the infrastructure management entity under the so-called “Didier Law” of 

2014, and the undertaking made on 29 April 2019 by the SNCF Group to eliminate glyphosate by 2021 will lead to an 

increase in track maintenance costs and to a risk of impairment for the CGU.  

Accordingly, the Company carried out another impairment test at 31 December 2019 based on a similar methodology 

to that used at the previous reporting dates, while excluding, going forward, station assets from the tested base, as they 

were transferred with effect from 1 January 2020 to its new, wholly-owned subsidiary, SNCF Gares & Connexions, for 

a carrying amount of €0.9 billion. 

This test did not result in a change in the CGU’s carrying amount, as the balance in the negotiations between the 

French State and SNCF Réseau underlying the financial trajectory was not challenged by the Company. This balance 

turned into the signing of the April 2017 performance agreement and by the amendments provided by the June 2018 

Law for a New Railway Pact (loi d’habilitation pour un nouveau pacte ferroviaire) and certain declarations of the 

French government primarily modifying changes in the indexing of infrastructure fees. This balance in the negotiations 

remains based on the assumption that (i) the Company will achieve its productivity goals and (ii) the French State will 

effectively implement all means and make all commitments necessary to support the recoverable amounts of the assets 

as determined above, although the French State did not formally reconfirm these undertakings for the 31 December 

2019 closing.  

The cash flow projections used for the test continue to comprise (i) cash inflows (infrastructure fees, access charges 

and investment subsidies) mainly arising from commitments received from the French State, and (ii) expenses 

(installation work and maintenance), capital investment in renovations and renewals, and productivity gains. 

• 2030 was maintained by the Company as the standard final year for the railway network currently in service, 

considering that 2030 will correspond to the year in which the network will be stabilised at expected performance 

levels, although these levels have never previously been attained. Terminal value represents the essential factor in 

measuring value in use.  

• The cash flow projections used to justify the assets’ values are based on the assumption that the Company will 

meet its productivity goals, which are more ambitious than those used in the performance agreement signed with the 

French State in April 2017. 

• The indexation trajectory for contractual infrastructure fees has been left unchanged from the previous 

reporting date, at a higher level than for TGV and Rail Freight operations despite the non-compliance opinions issued 

by the French transport authority (ART, formerly the French road and rail office [ARAFER]) in February 2019 and 

2020 regarding the rates for the 2020 and 2021 service timetables, as the Company considers that the French order 

(ordonnance) published on 11 March 2019 enables it to continue to apply a different indexation to TGV and Rail 

Freight. An appeal before the French Council of State (Conseil d’Etat) was filed by SNCF Réseau in September 2019 

and contested by ART in December 2019. Its outcome cannot be anticipated at this stage.  

• The investment subsidies allocated to renovation work – which are, in particular, partially financed by the 

dividends received by the French State from SNCF and redistributed to SNCF Réseau – are based on a financial 

trajectory for the SNCF Group which is different from that used in the 2017 performance agreement and which has not 

been formally approved by the French State. This trajectory could prove to be different from the trajectory that will 

result from the discussions underway with the French State with a view to signing a new performance agreement 

covering the 2020-2029 period. 

• The new performance agreement for the 2020-2029 period is currently under discussion and its impacts cannot 

be measured at present. Key decisions are still under negotiation, in particular concerning network consistency and 

local transport services, as illustrated by the two agreements signed between the French State and the Grand-Est and 

Centre-Val de Loire regions on 20 February 2020. Under these agreements, the railway lines for these regions are 

organised into three distinct groups, one of which will be become part of the “structured” network. SNCF Réseau will 

finance its renovation, although the Company and the French State have not yet agreed on the terms and conditions of 
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the financing of these renovation and maintenance investments.  

• As stated in Note 4.2.3 to the financial statements, the measures concerning the new pension scheme and, more 

broadly, the new social framework resulting from the rail industry agreements were still under negotiation at the 

reporting date and consequently could not be modelled. 

Thus, major risks and uncertainties continue to weigh on the discounted future cash flow assumptions used to measure 

the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets presented in the balance sheet at 31 December 2019. 

Consequently, the amount of the related impairment loss could increase significantly. 

As a result, we are unable to assess the pertinence of the projections and are therefore unable to express an opinion on 

the net value of the assets concerned, which amounted to €33.5 billion at 31 December 2019 (including work-in-

progress) for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.”  

Paris, 5 March 2020 

SNCF Réseau 

15-17 rue Jean-Philippe Rameau 

93200 Saint Denis 

France 

Duly represented by: 

Alain Quinet 

Directeur Général Exécutif of SNCF Réseau 

 

Autorité des marchés financiers 

In accordance with Articles L. 412-1 and L. 621-8 of the French Code monétaire et financier and with the General 

Regulations (Réglement Général) of the Autorité des marchés financiers (the AMF), in particular Articles 212-31 to 

212-33, the AMF has granted to this Second Supplement the visa n°20-076 on 5 March 2020. This document may only 

be used for the purposes of a financial transaction if completed by Final Terms. It was prepared by the Issuer and its 

signatories assume responsibility for it. In accordance with Article L. 621-8-1-I of the French Code monétaire et 

financier, the visa was granted following an examination by the AMF of “whether the document is complete and 

comprehensible, and whether the information it contains is coherent”. It does not imply an approval by the AMF of the 

opportunity of the transactions contemplated hereby nor that the AMF has verified the accounting and financial data set 

out in it. In accordance with Article 212-32 of the AMF's General Regulations, any issuance or admission to trading of 

notes on the basis of the Base Prospectus as supplemented shall be subject to the publication of Final Terms setting out 

the terms of the securities being issued. 

 


